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Thursday, March 26th, 2009

--- On commencing at 9:03 a.m.

MR. VLAHOS:  Please be seated.

Good morning, everyone.

Hydro One filed an application with the Ontario Energy Board seeking approval for changes to the rates that Hydro One charges for electricity distribution to be effective May 1st, 2009.  The application was filed under the Board's guidelines for 3rd generation incentive regulation, which provides for a mechanistic and formulaic adjustment to rates between cost-of-service applications, as well as provisions for incremental and capital investments.


In addition to the formulaic adjustment to rates, Hydro One is also seeking approval for incremental and capital investments.

Sitting with me today to hear the application are Board members Paul Sommerville and Ken Quesnelle.  Could I have appearances, please?
Appearances:


MR. ENGELBERG:  Good morning, Mr. Chair.  My name is Michael Engelberg.  I am here as counsel for Hydro One Networks Inc., and with me is Ruth Greey, director of special projects in Hydro One's regulatory affairs group.

MR. VLAHOS:  Thank you.

MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  Good morning, Mr. Chair and members of the Board.  Murray Klippenstein for Pollution Probe.

MR. VLAHOS:  Thank you.

MR. THOMPSON:  Peter Thompson for Canadian Manufacturers & Exporters.

MR. VLAHOS:  Mr. Thompson.

MR. LONG:  Good morning.  Richard Long for the Society of Energy Professionals.

MR. MACINTOSH:  David MacIntosh on behalf of Energy Probe Research Foundation.

MR. CROCKER:  I am David Crocker here for AMPCO with Wayne Clark.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Michael Buonaguro, counsel for VECC.

MR. MILLAR:  Good morning, Panel.  Michael Millar, counsel for Board Staff.  I am joined by Michael Bell, Alex Ruest, Martin Benum and Cedric Ligaire.

MS. KWIK:  I am still playing with my mic here.  Oh, okay.  I am Judy Kwik.  I am consultant to the Power Workers' Union, and Andrew Lokan, counsel to the Power Workers' Union, will join me later today.

MR. VLAHOS:  Thank you.  Anyone else?

There being no response, Mr. Klippenstein, Procedural Order No. 3 says we are going to hear your motion first thing.  So unless there are any preliminary matters, Mr. Engelberg, that cannot wait, we can go ahead with the motion.

MR. ENGELBERG:  That's fine, Mr. Chair.

MR. VLAHOS:  Okay, let's do that, Mr. Klippenstein.
MOTION HEARING

Submissions by Mr. Klippenstein:

MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  Thank you, Mr. Chair, and Pollution Probe appreciates the Board took the time this morning to hear this matter.

I will be referring to the motion record dated March 17th, 2009, if the Board could turn that up.

Mr. Chair, I don't know if it is preferable to have this marked as an exhibit.  It is prefiled, so it is a matter of convenience one way or the other.  I'm not sure...

MR. VLAHOS:  Mr. Millar?

MR. MILLAR:  It is not necessary, Mr. Chair, but if you would like it, it is sometimes easier to refer to if it has an exhibit number, so why don't we give it one?


MR. VLAHOS:  All right, let's do that.

MR. MILLAR:  It will be Exhibit K1.1.  That's the Pollution Probe motion record.
Exhibit No. K1.1:  Pollution Probe motion record.

MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  Mr. Chair, I will also be referring to three additional documents, which are simply mostly short excerpts for convenience.  I believe perhaps the Board has been provided with copies.  One is the report of the Board dated March 2, 2007.  The second is a report of the Board dated July 14th, 2008.  The third is notes for remarks by Peter Love May 26th, 2008.


The first two obviously are Board documents, and the third is notes for remarks by the chief energy conservation officer of the Ontario Power Authority.  That is on the Ontario Power Authority's website.  I have circulated those, and I am not aware of any objection to me referring to them.

MR. MILLAR:  Mr. Chair, do you have those?  I know they were circulated yesterday, but I am not sure if you have them with you.

MR. VLAHOS:  I have them.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  I have them.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Yes.

MR. VLAHOS:  Yes, we do have them.

MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  Perhaps for convenience if I might ask they be given an exhibit number.  The report of the Board March 2, 2007 --

MR. MILLAR:  Yes, the report of the Board March 2nd, 2007 will be K1.2.
Exhibit No. K1.2:  Report of Board dated March 2, 2007.

MR. MILLAR:  Why don't we call it the report of the Board dated July 14th K1.3?
Exhibit No. K1.3:  Report of Board dated July 14, 2007.

MR. MILLAR:  And the document entitled "The 3-E Value of Energy Conservation" K1.4.
Exhibit No. K1.4:  Document entitled "The 3-E Value of Energy Conservation", notes for remarks by Peter Love May 26, 2008.

MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  The report of the Board portions are merely excerpts that I wish to refer to.

This motion, Mr. Chair, is a request by Pollution Probe for an order that certain interrogatories directed to Hydro One be answered, and specifically that full and adequate answers be provided.

In short, the answers appear to be available, and without those answers there appears to be no forum for official oversight of the topic of those interrogatories.  They relate to conservation and demand management issues.

And, in addition, this request occurs in the context of increasing public statements by the Government of Ontario precisely highlighting the importance of CDM for the province at this time.

As part of the request, Pollution Probe asks if -- in the event the Board sees fit to grant the request, that there be a time space of three days, three business days, provided between receipt of the answers and an opportunity to cross-examine.

The interrogatories are found at tab 2 of the motion record, and there's a number of them.  To summarize, they relate all to Hydro One's conservation and demand management programs.  They relate to different years.  They relate to potential savings from those programs, various measurements of those savings, budgets for those programs.


Some of them relate to Peaksaver programs, including potential participants, projected, actual.  So they are directed to evaluating the effectiveness and the ambitiousness and the nature of the CDM programs at issue.

Now, the answer to the interrogatories in each case from Hydro One is also found at tab 2, and I will read one sample answer.  The answer to the response is the same in each case.  At page 7 of the motion record, a sample response is given:
"Hydro One has not requested any funding for CDM programs in this application and, as such, the information requested is not available in the context of this application."

I take that to mean that since Hydro One is not applying at this time for funding for these types of CDM programs through rate base -- I mean, through rates, that it is not relevant in this proceeding.  That's what I take from those answers.

A little later, I will point to the evidence from Hydro One which points out that essentially all of its present CDM programs are based on funding from the Ontario Power Authority.

So, as I understand it, the gist of the situation is that the CDM programs for 2009 are apparently funded by OPA, not by rates, and that it is on that basis that Hydro One declines to answer the interrogatories.

Just to refresh the Board's memories about the rules that would apply, at tab 3 I have excerpted the Board's rules of practice and procedure that apply.

At page 15 of the motion record, under rule 29.02, the rules provide that:
"A party who is unable or unwilling to provide a full and adequate response to an interrogatory shall file and serve a response:
(a) where the party contends that the interrogatory is not relevant, setting out specific reasons in support of that contention; and
(b) where the party contends that the information necessary to provide an answer is not available or cannot be provided with reasonable effort, setting out the reasons for the unavailability of such information..."


So that is a touchstone for the consideration of the Board, if I may say.


The responses from Hydro One that I just referred to in tab 2, do not clarify whether the objection or declining to answer is based on relevance or based on unavailability.  It just isn't clear.


So one could say that the response from Hydro One isn't quite in full accordance with the spirit of the rules in that it doesn't specify what the grounds for refusal are, relevance or availability, and doesn't give the specific reasons.  But that aside, I would like to focus on the substance, as I understand it.


I take it that Hydro One is suggesting that the answers regarding the CDM programs are not relevant because, again, Hydro One is not coming forward to the Board and asking for funding for programs from rates.  That's what I understand their position to be.


In short, in response, Pollution Probe would suggest that these CDM programs, although they may be funded by OPA and not requested to be funded through rates in this proceeding, are still a matter of legitimate concern for the Board, still a necessary matter for review by the Board at some level.  And so that at this stage Pollution Probe's request for information on those programs is legitimate and necessary for the Board's oversight.


The interrogatories from Pollution Probe ask for projected savings, actual savings from the past, budgets that are proposed, participants that are anticipated.  So evaluating the proposed programs, in my submission, in summary that is still relevant and important for the Board to consider, whether it is OPA funded or rates funded.


The basis for that relevance in more detail, if I could make a few points.  At tab 5 of the motion record, I have provided an excerpt of Hydro One's own evidence prefiled in this matter.  The Board can see that topic number 7 of Exhibit B1, tab 3, schedule 6 is called conservation and demand management, CDM.


So Hydro One has addressed CDM in the evidence put before you in this matter.  That evidence says, in the first line:
"Hydro One Distribution supports the Ontario Government's CDM target to achieve 1,350 megawatt of peak reduction by 2007 and a further reduction of 1350 megawatts by 2010."


It does go on to say, in the same paragraph, that it is relying primarily -- and I think subsequent answers clarify entirely -- on the OPA for funding of these CDM initiatives.


And my suggestion to you is here it is in the evidence.  Not only has Hydro One quite properly referred to the CDM programs before you and reported to the Board on them, it goes further and it says it supports the government's CDM targets including going forward to 2010.


So in my submission, Hydro One has recognized the relevance and significance of these CDM programs going on a forward basis.


At tab 4, for the Board's convenience, I have included an excerpt from the Ontario Energy Board Act which the Board will be well familiar with, and section 1, sub 1, sub 2 notes that one of the objectives of the Board is to promote economic efficiency and cost-effectiveness.  In my submission, CDM fits within that general category and that is applicable to this particular case.


With respect to the possibility that the information requested is not available -- which is one of the reasons given in the rules -- I have noted that similar questions were asked by Pollution Probe last year in the 2008 rates case and at tab 6 in the motion record are examples of answers provided by Hydro One at that time.


Now, that was in EB-2007-0681, which was a rates case, a cost-of-service application.  It wasn't the mechanistic formulaic approach applying here, but nevertheless the answers were given on all of these topics.


So my submission is, availability of information can't be the real problem here.  They could give the answers then.  In my submission, the reasonable inference is they could give the answers in this case.


If I could then refer the Board to one of the excerpts I provided, the report of the Board dated March 2, 2007, which is Exhibit K1.2.  This is the report of the Board on the regulatory framework for conservation and demand management by Ontario electricity distributors in 2007 and beyond.


I would just refer the Board to one sentence in page 6 of that report.  It occurs in the topic 4.1.1, CDM funding.  I have side-barred the sentence on the side which says:
"The Board is mindful, however, that to successfully meet the government's CDM targets, continued funding of CDM activities through distribution rates may be necessary, and the continued availability of this funding stream is not precluded by the directive or otherwise."


So what that suggests is that the mere fact that, in this case, Hydro One is relying on OPA funding and not on rates funding doesn't mean that the whole topic of CDM is off the table.  It doesn't automatically suggest that there should be funding through rates, but it doesn't mean that suddenly because OPA funds it, CDM is off the table for this Board or outside of its jurisdiction or no longer the Board's business.


The next reference I provided at Exhibit K1.3 is a report of the Board on 3rd generation incentive regulation for Ontario's electricity distributors dated July 14th, 2008.


If I could refer the Board to page 47 of that report.  The first full paragraph says:
"As a result of these 3rd generation IR consultations, the Board has determined that CDM-related costs recovered through distribution rates (i.e., any new spending on CDM, revenues from recovery of a lost revenue adjustment claim, or a shared savings claim) will continue to be dealt with separately from the IR rate adjustment."


Now, that was a further elaboration of the Board about its treatment of CDM.  And in my submission, in this case, it is clear that the Board is saying that CDM funding will be not part of the IR rate adjustment, which I take to mean it is not part of the formula, it is not part of the mechanism.  CDM is not in that calculation itself.


However, that doesn't mean it won't be dealt with at all, the sentence says: It will continue to be dealt with, only separately from the IR rate adjustment.


In my submission, it is appropriate for the Board to continue to have oversight of CDM, because the Board has the expertise in evaluating this and the big financial picture.  The problem is, what forum or in what context?  It doesn't specify, will there be a separate proceeding?  What happens, as in this case, if Hydro One doesn't actually apply for CDM funding?  Does that mean the CDM that it conduct is completely off the record and off the radar and nobody is even going to look at it?


In my submission, that can't be right.  It can't be that the CDM programs are suddenly taken off, out from the oversight of the Board; whereas before, the Board has looked at them and tested them when they were funded by rates, and the Board does say they will continue to be dealt with.

What I am asking for here is that they be dealt with here, for now, by requiring answers to these interrogatories.  Where that would take the Board in the rest of this proceeding doesn't have to be determined today, in my submission.

Pollution Probe doesn't know what its position would be if it received this information.  It might well say the efficiency of the programs could be improved.  It might well suggest that there should be additional programs that are rate based in addition to -- sorry, that are rates funded, in addition to OPA funding.


But, at this stage, in my submission, it is appropriate for the Board simply to say, We do need to look at this.  We shouldn't just completely abandon it and leave it without oversight.

In my submission, it would be particularly unfortunate if the Board just washed its hands of these CDM programs because they're OPA funded, given the context of CDM in the province in the very recent and current times.

If I could refer the Board specifically to Exhibit K1.4, which is the comments of Peter Love of OPA, and if the Board could direct its attention to page 3 of those comments, I have side-barred a number of paragraphs.  In approximately the middle of the page, Mr. Love says:
"Ontario also set interim targets of 1,350 megawatts of peak demand reduction by 2007, and a further 1,350 megawatts by 2010.  These are, in a sense, base camps on a very arduous and challenging climb, and they are important measure of our progress."

Then dropping to the bottom of the page, the last paragraph, he says:
"More detailed results for 2007 will be included in the supplement to my annual report to be released next week.  But I'd like to give you some highlights from the report, as reported to us:
"OPA-funded conservation programs, delivered by LDCs and other delivery agents, reduced peak demand by about 600 megawatts."

Next point is:
"In addition, conservation activities by LDCs not funded by the Ontario Power Authority have reduced peak demand by about 260 megawatts."

So the point is Mr. Love himself, of the OPA, is saying, number one, this is an arduous and challenging effort and we have to focus on it, but he is distinguishing between OPA-funded programs and non OPA-funded programs carried out by LDCs, and he says they're both important.

Similarly, just in this case, just because Hydro One is not asking for rate funding for these CDM programs doesn't mean they're not important and doesn't mean that OPA doesn't think they're important.  They are important.  They have a role to play.

So, in my submission, as it has in the past, the Board should at least look at the basic indicia of these programs.

Then Mr. Love goes further on and says:
"One clear message that has to be drawn from the progress we've made to this point is that we cannot rest on our laurels.  We've successfully reached the first base camp, but we still have a very long way to go and a very hard climb ahead.  The long-term challenge -- which translates into getting one in five electricity consumers off the grid by 2025 -- remains as urgent as ever.  The next interim target is a further reduction of 1,350 megawatts by 2010, and that will be an even greater challenge."

So, in my submission, Mr. Love is reminding us all that this continues to be an urgent task, and he does so right after he's referred to CDM activities by LDCs that are not OPA funded.

Then very quickly, Mr. Chair, if I could refer the Board back to the motion record at tab 8, I have included an excerpt from the Hansard Reports of the Legislature a few weeks ago on February 24th in which, on page 40 of the motion record, the Premier says, and I have sidebarred and underlined it:
"We're going to do everything we can to create more opportunities for more Ontarians to keep that bill down and, ideally, like my honourable colleague, get it even lower."

Which I take to be a reference to the importance of CDM, generally.


Then further at tab 8 -- sorry, tab 9(a), I have included notes for remarks by the Honourable Mr. Smitherman, Minister of Energy and Infrastructure delivered October 31, 2008.  At page 46 of the motion record, I have sidebarred some comments by the Minister, and he says:
"But just because we are doing well doesn't mean we can't do better... for the times dictate greater resolve than ever before..."

And the next paragraph, he again refers to the importance of LDCs in leading conservation and energy efficiency initiatives.

It might be said that some of these issues can be considered in the Integrated Power System Plan proceedings, but, as the Board knows, those proceedings have been delayed from what was initially planned, and I have included a letter at tab B from a few weeks ago in which the OPA mentions that the OPA intends to respond to the Minister's directive in the summer.

So the IPSP proceedings will have the effect of not really being able to consider the 2009 CDM, so there will be a gap.

Finally, at tab 10, I have included some materials about the government's initiative on the proposed Green Energy Act, and as the Board no doubt is aware, at page 56 of the motion record the proposed act says that:
"The Minister may issue, and the Board shall implement, directives related to conservation and demand management targets to be met by distributors."

So the act, while clearly not in force yet, is a sign of the government's intentions related specifically to CDM by LDCs.

At page 53 of the same tab, I have included some Hansard comments where the -- and sidebarred them, where the -- I think he is the parliamentary assistant on the topic notes that:
We would establish mandatory electricity conservation targets for local distribution companies."

Apparently indicating more than just an intention for a possibility, but an intention to actually implement such directives.

So, in sum, these interrogatories deal with practical and important parts of CDM, the targets, the budgets, the projected savings.  They appear to be related to information that's available, because it's been provided last year.  It is within the Board's jurisdiction.  The fact that Hydro One is not requesting such programs for rate funding doesn't automatically remove them from the Board's oversight, and, clearly, in my submission, continued monitoring and assessment of these programs is very much in line with what the government sees as necessary for the province now.

So, in my submission, the Board should order this information be provided, and then we can see what would be appropriate thereafter, if anything.

Thank you for your patience.

MR. VLAHOS:  Thank you, Mr. Klippenstein.  Do any parties support Pollution Probe's motion and, if so, would they like to comment?  There being no response in support, Mr. Engelberg, can you go next?
Submissions by Mr. Engelberg:

MR. ENGELBERG:  Thank you, Mr. Chair.  Hydro One responds that its answers to Pollution Probe's interrogatories regarding CDM were proper.

Hydro One understands that Pollution Probe is dissatisfied with the fact that CDM programs are not within the ambit of this particular proceeding which is an application pursuant to the Board's 3rd generation IRM model, but the fact is that that is the case.


Firstly, as Mr. Klippenstein has pointed out, Hydro One has not requested any funding for CDM programs in this application.  And Hydro One submits that it would be inappropriate for Hydro One to bring forward the information requested by Pollution Probe.


Also as he pointed out, funding for the CDM programs for distribution customers is done by the Ontario Power Authority and I can add to that, that the funding is to a limited degree by the Ministry Of Energy and Infrastructure, not by Hydro One.

Hydro One submits for those two reasons, Hydro One's not having requested any funding for CDM programs in this application and Hydro One's not providing the funding for CDM programs, are grounds enough for the Board to find that Hydro One did not improperly answer Pollution Probe's interrogatories on that topic.


But I think the matter goes further than that.  It doesn't end there.  The additional fact is that in the context of this 3rd generation IRM application, CDM is not a matter to be explored.


I draw your attention to the same passage that Mr. Klippenstein referred you to in the Board's July 14th, 2008 report on 3rd generation incentive regulation for Ontario's electricity distributors, the same passage, at page 47, first full paragraph.


Where it reads and I quote, as Mr. Klippenstein did:
"The Board has determined that CDM-related costs recovered through distribution rates (i.e., any new spending on CDM, revenues from recovery of lost revenue adjustment claim, or a shared savings claim) will continue to be dealt with separately from the IR rate adjustment."


I understand Mr. Klippenstein's submission to be that when the Board used the words "IR rate adjustment," it was just referring to the price cap index portion of 3rd generation IRM.  But Hydro One's submission is that that is not the case.


What results from a 3rd generation IRM proceeding is an IR rate adjustment, and Hydro One respectfully submits that the Board was referring to this type of proceeding, an application under 3rd generation IRM, as not being the appropriate place to deal with conservation and demand management programs, particularly when there are no costs being applied for by the applicant who is seeking to bring forward the application.


Hydro One intends to continue participating in future CDM programs administered by the OPA or by other parties, and will be looking to expand those programs as appropriate.


Mr. Klippenstein referred to two paragraphs in Hydro One's application concerning CDM.

In Hydro One's submission, the insertion of those two paragraphs are in no way grounds to say that this is the proceeding in which CDM programs should be delved into.

Our submission is that, if anything, the two paragraphs that Hydro One has in the application further illustrate that an examination of CDM spending and programs is not properly part of this proceeding.

Regarding Hydro One's answer and Mr. Klippenstein's submission that information may be available, Hydro One's answers included the words "within the context of this proceeding" making it clear, to Pollution Probe from the very beginning that the reason that the responses are not being brought forward is because they are not appropriate in the context of this proceeding.

Just to finish up, I would like to respond to Mr. Klippenstein's quoting of various sources, bringing forward the importance of conservation and demand management programs, that Hydro One's submission is that the fact that a matter is not part of this proceeding does not mean that CDM programs are not important.

Hydro One respectfully submits that if the Board today finds that CDM is not part of this 3rd generation IRM application and should not be delved into as part of this application, that, in no way means that the Board is telling anyone that CDM programs are not important.

Those are Hydro One's submissions.

MR. VLAHOS:  Thank you, Mr. Engelberg.  Any other party wish to comment?

MR. THOMPSON:  No, thank you.

MR. VLAHOS:  There being no response.  The Board has no questions.  So our plan is to consider this matter at the morning break and hopefully we can get back to you, Mr. Klippenstein, after the morning break.  At worst, after lunch, but our goal is to be able to reach a decision at the break.

MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  Thank you, Mr. Chair.

MR. VLAHOS:  So with that, Mr. Engelberg, any other matters before we, you present your panel?

MR. ENGELBERG:  If I may have a minute, Mr. Chair.

MR. VLAHOS:  Yes.

MR. ENGELBERG:  Thank you.

MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  Mr. Chair, I wonder if I could be excused until the break.  I have no other issues aside from this at this time.

MR. VLAHOS:  Certainly.  Okay, thank you, Mr. Klippenstein.

MR. KLIPPENSTEIN:  Thanks.

MR. ENGELBERG:  Mr. Chair, I wouldn't call these preliminary matters, but as a matter of convenience for filing purposes and to be sure that everybody has everything, perhaps this would be an appropriate time for Hydro One to file CVs for the four members of its witness panel.
Procedural Matters:


MR. ENGELBERG:  Three confidential exhibits requested by Mr. Thompson, which Hydro One would be providing on a confidential basis.

My understanding is that they are watermarked as "confidential" and Hydro One will be requesting that in addition to the fact that parties who take them would be taking them under the Board's normal confidentiality procedures, Hydro One requests that the exhibits, at the end of this proceeding, be returned to Hydro One rather than destroyed, because of their confidential nature.

There are two other exhibits, as well, that Hydro One would like to file at this time.  So perhaps if I could read them out, we could have them made exhibits.  Is that what you would prefer to do, Mr. Millar?

MR. MILLAR:  Yes, subject to any objections from the panel.

MR. VLAHOS:  Could someone from Staff make sure that the doors are closed or whoever is making that noise outside --

MR. MILLAR:  Yes, sir.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  It's the trolley.

MR. VLAHOS:  Is it the trolley?

MR. MILLAR:  I think it is just to bring in some binders that are necessary for the panel.

MR. VLAHOS:  Oh, is it?  I thought it was people talking.

MR. MILLAR:  So we have the package of CVs, I will mark that first, perhaps all as a single exhibit and bring them up to the Panel because I don't believe you have them.  K1.5.
Exhibit No. K1.5:  Hydro One WITNESS CV package


MR. MILLAR:  And that will be the entire package.  I'm sorry, Mr. Engelberg, which are the -- I have a whole pile of documents here.  You have the confidential?  I'm sorry, they're up here.

MR. ENGELBERG:  They're quite thick.  They refer to forward-looking information.

MR. MILLAR:  It's a single document, single package?  This will be -- we will give it an X because it is confidential.  So KX1.6.

Oh, I'm sorry, there are three separate confidential documents.  K1.6 will be the submission to the board of directors -- KX1.6.  KX1.7 is the 2009 to 2011 business plan of Hydro One.  KX1.8 is a submission to the board of directors dated August 14th, 2008, and just to differentiate it from the first one, KX1.6, that one is dated November 13th, 2008.
Exhibit No. KX1.6:  Submission TO the board of directors dated November 13, 2008.
Exhibit No. KX1.7:  2009 to 2011 Hydro One Networks Inc. business plan.
Exhibit No. KX1.8:  Submission to board of directors dated August 14, 2008.

MR. MILLAR:  I'm sorry, Mr. Engelberg, were there additional documents you wanted marked at this time?

MR. ENGELBERG:  I believe there are two additional documents.

MR. MILLAR:  I think I have them in front of me.

MR. ENGELBERG:  You have them?

MR. MILLAR:  Yes.  So we are now up to K1.9.  This is Hydro One Distribution asset need to asset plan 2009 in millions.  It is a chart.
Exhibit No. K1.9:  Chart of Hydro One Distribution asset need to asset plan 2009 in millions.

MR. MILLAR:  And K1.10 is another chart, Hydro One Distribution capital 2009 plan in millions.
Exhibit No. K1.10:  Chart of Hydro One Distribution capital 2009 plan in millions.

MR. MILLAR:  I think that is all of them.  We will hand mark them and bring them up to you, Panel.

MR. ENGELBERG:  Mr. Chair, is Hydro One's request that the confidential exhibits be returned to Hydro One at the end of the proceeding acceptable to the Panel?

MR. VLAHOS:  Any objections to that, Mr. Shepherd?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Mr. Chairman, the Board has a policy on this, and that policy allows for destruction and a certificate of destruction.

I think the reason for that is so that we can annotate our copies and use them as documentary evidence in the proceeding and not have to give our strategic comments on the document back to the applicant.  Therefore, we would object to having to return them.

I should note that these documents have already been filed in confidence in the transmission proceeding, and I believe that they were not under that restriction.  I just signed the regular undertaking in that proceeding, and so I am, in fact, planning to destroy them when the appeal period is up on that proceeding, that set.

MR. VLAHOS:  Mr. Engelberg?

MR. ENGELBERG:  I am informed that there was a requirement, when they were provided in the transmission hearing, that they be returned to Hydro One, rather than destroyed.

MR. SHEPHERD:  My undertaking doesn't say that.

MR. VLAHOS:  That's not my recollection.  Can you be more -- Mr. Buonaguro may have -- I'm sorry, Mr. Buonaguro, did you have any insight?

MR. BUONAGURO:  Well, I don't have insight into the particular terms of Mr. Shepherd's or even my undertaking.  The Board has my undertaking in that other proceeding.

I just wanted to add that the Board has a policy, and the policy allows us to destroy them on our own.  What is so special about these documents in this proceeding that -- I hesitate to say this, but why can't we be trusted to do that here?

I mean, either there's something very special about these documents compared to every other confidential document that has been put before the Board in this particular case that they have to be returned to the company so they can destroy them, or there isn't.  The Board's policy should stand.  Thank you.

MR. VLAHOS:  Go ahead, sir.

MR. ENGELBERG:  I am in your hands, Mr. Chair.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Mr. Engelberg, do you have any specific comment to make with -- about Mr. Shepherd's suggestion that his annotations are strategic in nature and that he doesn't necessarily want to share those with you when he returns the document?

MR. ENGELBERG:  I can well understand that an intervenor would not want to share his comments, but I would suggest that comments, annotations could be made on a separate piece of paper and need not become part of the actual document.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Okay.  Is there some extra measure of security that you see in the return rather than the affidavit of destruction?

MR. ENGELBERG:  It's primarily because of Hydro One's concern that the information on forward-looking documents and information, because of Hydro One's status as a filer and its obligations under securities regulation and legislation, make it that much more important for Hydro One to demonstrate that it has done everything possible to see to it that documents are, in fact, destroyed.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  It occurs to me that you are no further ahead with the return of the document than with the affidavit of destruction in that instance, though.  There is no extra measure of security.  I mean, you either accept the affidavit as being true, or you don't.

I don't see any additional value in the return.  In fact, I can only see greater complication.  Am I missing something?

MR. ENGELBERG:  No.  I would hope that that is the case, but because of Hydro One's special position as a filer, we want to be seen to have done everything we can possibly do to get documents back.

MR. VLAHOS:  Mr. Engelberg, the policy clearly does permit either option.  So the Panel is of the view that we will give that option to the intervenors so they can destruct those and they would provide the normal affidavit of destruction.

MR. ENGELBERG:  I understand, Mr. Chair.

MR. VLAHOS:  Thank you.

Now, Mr. Millar before those documents come up, the confidential documents, I want to make sure there is no party here that would be receiving those without having signed or will sign the undertaking.

MR. MILLAR:  Yes, of course.  We are only circulating them to the Panel at this moment.  We have brought copies of the undertaking, and I know Hydro One pays a lot of attention to these, as well, so I am certain that they won't allow us to circulate them to parties until they see the undertaking with their own eyes, I assume.


We have copies of those here, and I am not sure if this is going to be something that comes up with the first panel or not.  I assume it will, because I think Mr. Thompson is going first.

We may have to take a short break to ensure everyone has signed the undertaking and that no one, especially when we're -- we may have to go in camera, as well.  I am not sure if we will have to do that.  We may have to clear the room at some point.  But, currently, I don't believe anyone has copies of the confidential documents.

MR. VLAHOS:  That's fine.  You do have copies of the undertakings there at your table?

MR. MILLAR:  Yes, I do.

MR. VLAHOS:  Thank you.

MR. ENGELBERG:  And I would add to that there is there is only one panel, so it is not as if there will be an opportunity to wait until later.

MR. VLAHOS:  Okay.  All right, then.  Do we get a copy of the two other exhibits, Mr. Millar?  Do we have those?

MR. THOMPSON:  Mr. Chairman, I wonder if I might just jump in here to file two additional documents that go hand in hand with some of this stuff, and that would be transcript excerpts from the transmission case.

I understand Mr. Van Dusen is on this panel, so I don't propose to go through the same questions again.  I will just have the transcript adopted.  I have checked this with Hydro One.  I don't think they have any objection to this.

I notified them of the transcript excerpts that I would be referring to.

MR. ENGELBERG:  Well, it hasn't been checked with Hydro One, and Hydro One is going to be objecting to filing those transcripts.

We interpreted Mr. Thompson's letter yesterday saying that witnesses should be familiar with that as simply a cue to being sure that the witnesses are prepared to give evidence in that particular area, in that particular subject area, in this proceeding.

The witnesses are certainly prepared to do so.  It is unnecessary, completely unnecessary, in Hydro One's submission, for the transcript in that transmission proceeding - which, by the way, has not yet even ended - to become part of this proceeding, or for witnesses to, in any way, be cross-examined or impugned on the basis of a transcript in another proceeding.

By taking that position, Hydro One is, in no way, saying to Mr. Thompson or any other intervenor that matters that are properly within the area of exploration of this 3rd generation IRM application cannot be delved into, but Hydro One strongly submits that the transcript and the statements of witnesses in those other proceedings cannot be used in this proceeding.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Let me be clear just so I understand what is at issue here.  Is this evidence under oath by witnesses for Hydro One?  Is that the transcript we are talking about?

MR. THOMPSON:  Yes.  It deals with questions on these very documents that have been marked.

I was trying to expedite the process, but I will deal with it in examination if I have to.  I spoke to Ms. Greey this morning.  I thought it was okay, but I obviously misunderstood.

MR. ENGELBERG:  There must have been a misunderstanding.  What the letter says yesterday is that Hydro One's witnesses should familiarize themselves with the experts -- we -- with the excerpts.  Hydro One interpreted that to mean that the witnesses should be prepared to answer questions on those topics.

MR. VLAHOS:  Mr. Engelberg, it is not unusual for a record of another proceeding being made part of a record of the current or that current proceeding.

So I must be missing something.  It is evidence under oath and it was just given a short while ago.  I don't understand what the basis of the concern is.

MR. ENGELBERG:  First of all, that proceeding is not yet even complete.  Secondly, what Hydro One is objecting to is not that the information provided by Hydro One cannot be used in this proceeding.  Hydro One is objecting to the use -- if that in fact is what Mr. Thompson intends to
do -- the use of the transcript in the other proceeding being used to impugn the witnesses or cross-examine the witnesses in this proceeding.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  You are suggesting that not only can it not be an exhibit in this proceeding, but that Mr. Thompson ought to be restrained or restricted from referring to the transcript in that proceeding in questioning your witnesses?

MR. ENGELBERG:  Yes.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  On what basis would you do that?

MR. ENGELBERG:  On the grounds that evidence provided in one proceeding, particularly a proceeding that has not completed and no decision has been rendered, should be used for purposes in another proceeding.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Do you have any precedent for that position?

MR. ENGELBERG:  No, I do not.

MR. VLAHOS:  Mr. Thompson, how much would that add to your cross-examination if the Board were to decide in favour of Hydro One?

MR. THOMPSON:  That's difficult to estimate.  It might be 20 minutes, but just to be clear, what I wanted to ask the witness is -- and I believe Mr. Van Dusen is on this panel, is he not?

MR. ENGELBERG:  Yes, he is.

MR. THOMPSON:  He's the same person who answered these questions about these same documents, in the transmission case and what I wanted to do is:  If I asked you these questions today in this case, would the answers be the same.  I would assume his answer is yes, so then I don't have to ask them again.  That was the purpose of it.  To adopt, under oath, in this proceeding, what he said about these very documents in the transmission case, then we don't have to go down that road.

So if that helps my friend understand what I am trying to do with these papers, that's the extent of it.

MR. VLAHOS:  Mr. Engelberg, anything to add?

MR. ENGELBERG:  No, Mr. Chair.

MR. VLAHOS:  No?

[Board Panel confers]

MR. VLAHOS:  Mr. Engelberg, the panel is prepared to meet those -- submit those excerpts as exhibits in this proceeding to the extent there are any concerns from Hydro One in terms of the weight, for example, that maybe assigned to those documents, that can go to argument.

MR. ENGELBERG:  Thank you, Mr. Chair.

MR. THOMPSON:  Let me just describe them for the record, Mr. Chairman, and then my friend, Mr. Millar, can give them exhibits.

The first excerpts are from in volume 2 of the EB-2008-0272 proceedings from page 113 to 121.  The second excerpt is from volume 4 of the transcript in the same proceeding and it is entitled:  "Redacted Public Revised" so it is the piece that was on the public record and that is from pages 3 to 20.

MR. MILLAR:  Mr. Thompson, do we have copies of those documents?

MR. THOMPSON:  I have.  There's some here for the panel.  I have a few extra.

MR. MILLAR:  First, I will mark these.  The transcript dated February 24th will be K1.11.
EXHIBIT NO. K1.11:  TRANSCRIPT excerpt DATED FEBRUARY 24, 2009

MR. MILLAR:  And the transcript dated February 27th, K1.12.
EXHIBIT NO. K1.12:  TRANSCRIPT excerpt DATED FEBRUARY 27, 2009

MR. THOMPSON:  Thank you very much.

MR. VLAHOS:  Can we go off the record for a minute, please?  There is a technical glitch here which we would like to address so we can take the morning break.  We will be back in 15 minutes.

--- Recess taken at 10:00 a.m.

 SEQ CHAPTER \h \r 1
--- Upon resuming at 10:28 a.m.


MR. VLAHOS:  Please be seated.


Mr. Engelberg, would you like to present your panel?


MR. ENGELBERG:  Thank you, Mr. Chair, and Members of the Panel.


Hydro One has brought a panel of four witnesses.  I will introduce them from left to right.  Mr. Bodhan Dumka, Dr. Andy Poray, Mr. George Juhn and Mr. Greg Van Dusen, all of whom will be responding in their various areas of knowledge.

In a few minutes, I will be introducing them to ask them about their respective areas of expertise for this hearing, and I believe all of us have the curricula vitae for each of them.

However, to begin with, I am proposing that I would like to spend approximately 15 or 20 minutes doing direct evidence with one of the witnesses, Dr. Andy Poray, who is Hydro One's director of regulatory policy and support, and the goal of doing that would be to clarify a few matters and hopefully simplifying and shortening this proceeding somewhat.


MR. VLAHOS:  Thank you, sir.  Perhaps, then, the panel can be sworn at this time.

HYDRO ONE NETWORKS INC. - PANEL 1


Bodhan Dumka, Affirmed

George Juhn, Sworn


Dr. Andrew Poray, Affirmed


Gregory Van Dusen, Sworn

Examination by Mr. Engelberg:


MR. ENGELBERG:  Dr. Poray, as we all know, this is the first time that Hydro One is here before the Board under the 3rd generation IRM regime.  It is also the first time that the Board's capital adjustment module is being used.


I understand that some of the interrogatories from intervenors and from Board Staff led Hydro One to conclude that it would be helpful to spend just a few minutes with you at the outset before we get into the cross-examination of the other three panel members.  Is that okay with you?


DR. PORAY:  That's fine, thank you.


MR. ENGELBERG:  Thank you.  Now, I understand that Hydro One is here to apply for distribution rates for 2009 to be effective on May 1; is that correct?


DR. PORAY:  Yes, it is.


MR. ENGELBERG:  What do Hydro One's 2008 distribution rates include?  In particular, do they include any capital work to be done in 2009?


DR. PORAY:  Hydro One's 2008 distribution rates are based on the 2008 revenue requirement which was approved by the Board in proceeding EB-2007-0681.


Part of the approved revenue requirement includes the capital-related costs that are associated with the 2008 rate base, also approved by the Board in that proceeding.  The 2008 rate base includes in-service additions for capital expenditures incurred in 2008.


Hydro One's 2008 distribution revenue requirement does not contain any costs related to 2009 capital work.  Hence, Hydro One's 2008 distribution rates do not recover any costs related to 2009 capital work.


MR. ENGELBERG:  So if that's the case, Dr. Poray, what's the starting point for 2009 rate base and capital spend?


DR. PORAY:  To help me in responding to that question, I would like to bring up the first slide.  So if -- oops.


Oh -- all right.  Can everybody see that on their monitors?


MR. VLAHOS:  Well, the Panel does not have the capability, so if you put it on the -- is there a screen that -- all right.  Are there any hard copies that the Panel can have?


MR. ENGELBERG:  We do have hard copies?


MR. VLAHOS:  That would be great.  It is a little difficult to see that far.


DR. PORAY:  It's not very...


MR. ENGELBERG:  Would it possibly be helpful if the blinds were lowered behind the witness panel?


MR. MILLAR:  Yes, but I need the --


MR. ENGELBERG:  The remote?


MR. MILLAR:  -- the remote, and I don't know...


MR. ENGELBERG:  Mr. Poray has it.  I think the one over here is fine.  It is just the one behind the witness panel.


MR. VLAHOS:  Between two screens and a hard copy, I think we are going to be fine.  We have had technical glitches this morning, so...


MR. ENGELBERG:  Dr. Poray, I will ask the question again.  What is the starting point for 2009 rate base and capital spend?


DR. PORAY:  The starting point for 2009 is the approved rate base for 2008.  The corresponding value for this rate base is approximately $4.25 billion, and this is illustrated by the bar on the left-hand side of this slide.


Hydro One indicated in its prefiled evidence that the capital expenditure forecasts for 2009 are $461 million.  It is expected that the forecast $461 million of capital expenditures will result in 461 million of in-service additions to the 2008 rate base as per the Board's guidelines for the 3rd generation IRM.


To illustrate this, we first reduced the 2008 rate base by the amount of depreciation approved in 2008, which is $188 million.  So that should now come up on the slide.


We then add to the adjusted rate base the 461 million of 2009 capital expenditures so that the rate base increases to approximately $4.52 billion in 2009.


The net gain in the rate base in 2009 is approximately $270 million.  So the key message we can take from this slide is that the rate base does, in fact, change or increases in 2009, or another way of saying it is that the rate base is not static during the IRM period.


The Board recognized, during the consultation on 3rd generation IRM model development, that unusual circumstances, such as I have just illustrated, may cause utilities to incur additional costs during the IR term that might not be funded by the price cap index adjustment, and I refer you here to the Board report on 3rd generation IRM dated July 14th, 2008.


It is for this reason that the Board included the capital adjustment module as part of the 3rd generation IRM for utilities to apply for when they find themselves in these unusual circumstances.


MR. ENGELBERG:  Mr. Miller, is it necessary to make the Board's report dated July 14th, 2008 and perhaps the October supplementary -- excuse me, the September supplementary report as exhibits?


MR. MILLAR:  Yes, I think we should, if they weren't prefiled with the evidence.  So K1.13 will be the -- I don't have the documents in front of me, Mr. Engelberg.  You wanted the report, and then the supplemental report?


MR. ENGELBERG:  I believe that Mr. Bell has them; is that correct?


MR. BELL:   The report of the Board, the one that was issued in July?


MR. ENGELBERG:  Yes.


MR. MILLAR:  So that is K1.13.

EXHIBIT NO. K1.13:  BOARD REPORT DATED JULY 14, 2008

MR. MILLAR:  K1.14 is the supplemental report of the Board?


MR. ENGELBERG:  Dated September 2008.


MR. MILLAR:  That's the supplemental?


MR. ENGELBERG:  Yes.


MR. MILLAR:  Thank you.

EXHIBIT NO. K1.14:  SUPPLEMENTAL REPORT OF THE BOARD DATED SEPTEMBER 2008

MR. VLAHOS:  Do we have copies of those?  I have my own copy.  I am not sure if my co-panellists do, or not?


MR. MILLAR:  I understand the copies have been given to the Panel, but it was yesterday.  If you are missing --

MR. VLAHOS:  Let me just confirm.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  I don't have, I mean I have a copy in my office but I don't have a copy on this desk right now.


MR. MILLAR:  I assume we have a copy here and we will share with you.


Mr. Chair, should we also give an exhibit number to the presentation, because --

MR. VLAHOS:  Yes, perhaps.  But before that, Dr. Poray, if you look back at the screen there, is this the one you've been talking to all this time, the slide?


DR. PORAY:  That's the one we were talking to --

MR. VLAHOS:  Not the more detailed one?


DR. PORAY:  No, no, we will get to that.

MR. VLAHOS:  Okay.

MR. MILLAR:  If we can give that an exhibit number the slide presentation from Hydro One will be K1.15.

EXHIBIT NO. K1.15:  SLIDE PRESENTATION FROM HYDRO ONE

MR. SHEPHERD:  Mr. Chairman, just before Mr. Poray continues, I am concerned that some of this appears to be rearguing the IRM decision and I am cautious not to jump to any conclusions, but having read the evidence and having seen these slides, which were slides that are very similar to what Hydro One presented in that proceeding and were rejected, I am concerned that this doesn't end up being a rearguing of that decision.  And I wanted to put that on the record before he goes any further.


MR. ENGELBERG:  I can assure my friend that Dr. Poray's submission does not reargue the decision.  He is answering the question as to how Hydro One prepared the application that is before the Board today.


MR. VLAHOS:  All right.  We will take it as such, thank you.


MR. ENGELBERG:  Dr. Poray, is Hydro One requesting an approval of the 2009 rate base?


DR. PORAY:  No.  Hydro One is not seeking approval to the 2009 rate base.


The example that we have provided in slide 1 is for illustrative purposes only, to demonstrate the fact that the rate base does, in fact, change as a result of the very significant capital expenditures.


Hydro One will be seeking an approval to its rate base at the next cost-of-service submission.


MR. ENGELBERG:  Thank you.  Now that you've told us about the starting point for 2009, please explain how Hydro One used the Board's capital adjustment module to arrive at the allowable capital expenditure that reflects the rate base increase that you've told us about.


DR. PORAY:  Hydro One followed the guidelines set out in the Board's supplemental report of September 17th, 2008 to calculate the allowable capital expenditure for 2009 rate adjustment as determined by the capital adjustment module.


I would like to now go to the second slide to help me in responding to this question.


The bar on the right-hand side of this slide shows that the total capital expenditure for 2009 is 461 million.  Using the formulae and the capital adjustment module, Hydro One determined the threshold figure to be approximately 153 percent of the approved 2008 depreciation amount or $287 million.  This is illustrated by the black line which is titled "threshold."

I would like to elaborate as to what the threshold amount means and how that relates to what Hydro One should expect, in terms of capital-related cost recovery under the 3rd generation IRM regime.


As per the capital adjustment module, the threshold amount is made up of several components.  Hydro One has calculated those components and we provided that information in response to a Board Staff interrogatory at Exhibit I, tab 1, schedule 2.


Starting from the zero line of the capital expenditure bar in the chart, the blue block represents the approved 2008 depreciation amount which is 188 million or 65.3 percent of the threshold amount.


What this means is that because the Board approved the depreciation amount of 188 million in 2008, Hydro One can expect to use this depreciation amount to fund a portion of its capital expenditure in 2009.


The next component is that attributable to the price cap index and this amounts to 42 million or 15 percent of the threshold amount.  This is illustrated by the yellow block.  By virtue of the fact that the 2008 distribution rates are to be adjusted by the price cap index, Hydro One can expect to fund a portion of its 2009 capital expenditure as a result of this adjustment.


The next component is that attributable to growth and this amounts to 20 million or 7 percent of the threshold amount.  This is illustrated by the green block.


Based on the information filed by Hydro One in its prefiled evidence, Hydro One can expect a portion of the capital expenditure to be funded by growth.


The remaining component in the threshold amount is the dead band which was set by the Board at 20 percent of the approved depreciation amount and for Hydro One that comes to $38 million or 13 percent of the threshold amount and this is illustrated by the red block under the threshold line.


What I have just explained provides an indication of what Hydro One can expect, in terms of funding for a portion of its capital expenditure in 2009 as a result of automatic adjustments.


As per the calculations resulting from the Board's capital adjustment module, Hydro One can expect the price cap index, the growth and the approved depreciation to fund approximately 250 million or 54 percent of its forecast capital expenditure in 2009.

This means that 46 percent or 211 million remains unfunded and, of that, Hydro One can only expect 174 million or 38 percent to be considered through the triggering of the capital adjustment module.


This is illustrated by the red block above the threshold amount.


There is no other mechanism which Hydro One can use to fund the substantial amount of capital expenditure.  Together with the dead band, these two components represent the unfunded amount -- that's why they're both shown in red -- that Hydro One has no mechanism of recovery.


MR. ENGELBERG:  Dr. Poray, what is the impact on revenue requirement that results from the use of the Board's capital adjustment module?


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  You mean according to these calculations, Mr. Engelberg?


MR. ENGELBERG:  Yes.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you.


DR. PORAY:  Excuse me for a minute, we are doing a technical adjustment here.


So what I would like to do is go back to the first slide -- oh, sorry, we have got the wrong one.  Excuse me for a minute.  We will get back to the first slide.


So what I would like to do is use the first slide to help me in answering this question.  I will just make the adjustments that we did before.


In the unusual circumstances where the rate base is changing due to capital expenditures growing at a faster pace than the change in the depreciation, the use of a price cap adjustment mechanism does not adequately reflect the forward capital expenditures that Hydro One is expected to incur during the 3rd generation IRM period.


In this slide, we can see that there is, indeed, an increase in the rate base between 2008 and 2009 and the increase is in the order of approximately $270 million or 6.35 percent.

This means that, on an annual basis, capital expenditures are growing at a faster rate than changes in depreciation.  We know that under the 3rd generation IRM, depreciation is allowed to grow at only the price cap index, which for Hydro One, is 0.98 percent and here I am referring to the original price cap index which was filed with the Board, the price cap index adjustment for Hydro One will change as a result of the Board's decision, recent decision on the use of the inflation factor.

So clearly there is a gap in recovery.  It is the capital adjustment module that is the mechanism created by the Board to be used in the unusual circumstances where such a gap exists between depreciation and in-service additions.

Based on the rules that apply to the use of the capital adjustment module, the additional revenue requirement that is required to fund the amount of capital expenditure above the threshold is calculated by Hydro One to be $21 million, or an increase of 2.1 percent over the 2008 revenue requirement, excluding the rate riders.

That is shown in the prefiled evidence at Exhibit B2, tab 1, schedule 2, appendix F.

MR. ENGELBERG:  As a result of what you said, does that mean that Hydro One's use of the Board's capital adjustment module would ensure that Hydro One recovers sufficient revenues to cover all of Hydro One's forecast 2009 capital expenditures?

DR. PORAY:  No.  As I explained earlier, the rules applicable to the use of the capital adjustment module allow Hydro One to submit a claim only for the capital expenditure above the threshold, or $174 million.

Hydro One is not allowed to include the amount that pertains to the dead band below the threshold, and, hence, Hydro One's calculation of the incremental revenue requirement excludes 38 million of capital expenditure for 2009.

MR. ENGELBERG:  Then in this application, Dr. Poray, is Hydro One justifying the entire $461 million of 2009 capital expenditures?

DR. PORAY:  Yes.  Hydro One is justifying the entire amount of $461 million.

MR. ENGELBERG:  Why is Hydro One doing that?

DR. PORAY:  Hydro One determines its capital expenditure requirements for the distribution business based on a rigorous risk-based planning process, which the Board has reviewed in the 2006 and 2008 distribution revenue requirement and rate submissions.

This process yielded a capital program of $461 million in 2009 that is required to maintain the operation of the Hydro One distribution infrastructure at a level that is commensurate with requirements imposed by Hydro One's distributor licence, the various Board code requirements, applicable industry standards and customer expectations of service, quality and reliability.

It is more appropriate to defend the entire capital program for the year and allow the Board to judge the viability of the programs in the light of the evidence provided by Hydro One.

MR. ENGELBERG:  Now that you've said that in this application Hydro One is justifying the entire $461 million of 2009 capital expenditures, I would like to draw your attention to an interrogatory from Board Staff.

Please see Exhibit I, tab 1, schedule 2, page 1 of 5, question (b)(ii).

Does everyone have that?

Dr. Poray, what is your understanding of the premise of that interrogatory, and do you agree with that premise?

DR. PORAY:  No, Hydro One does not agree with that premise.  Our understanding is that Board Staff appear to view the incremental capital expenditure for 2009 as being merely the difference between the 2008 level of capital expenditure, or $401 million, and the 2009 level of capital expenditure of $461 million, a difference of approximately $60 million.

This suggests that Board Staff equate the 2009 capital expenditures to be inclusive of the 2008 capital expenditures, plus 60 million.

That premise is incorrect, since the 2009 capital expenditures are completely new capital expenditures over and above the 2008 expenditures that will be placed in service in 2009.

MR. ENGELBERG:  Is it Hydro One's position that its use of the Board's capital adjustment module is consistent with the Board's words in the September 17th, 2008 supplemental report, at page 31, regarding "unusual circumstances"?  And if your answer to that question is "yes", could you tell us what the unusual circumstances here are?

DR. PORAY:  Yes.  Hydro One has followed the rules for triggering the capital adjustment module, consistent with the OEB's supplementary report of September 17th, 2008.

Hydro One's distribution is at a stage where its distribution facilities are nearing end of life and require significant investment to maintain the system capability to deliver energy to electricity consumers at a level of reliability and quality of service required by its licence, OEB codes, industry standards and customer expectations.

Furthermore, distributor generation projects are increasing development capital-related costs.

Hydro One's capital expenditures have been rising significantly to meet these requirements.  In 2002 our capital expenditure was $262 million, in 2005 it was $317 million, and in 2009 it is $461 million.

So in the past seven years our capital expenditures have increased by approximately 75 percent.  Hydro One, therefore, finds itself in unusual circumstances, when viewed in the context of the more prevalent circumstances, where the utility operations are viewed as being in a more steady-state environment, where annual capital spending is approximately the same as annual depreciation.

In summary, Hydro One believes that it has applied for the use of the capital adjustment module entirely as prescribed by the Board's 3rd generation IRM and supplemental reports.

MR. ENGELBERG:  Well, finally, Dr. Poray, as my last question, I would like to ask you:  How does Hydro One propose to recover the revenue requirement associated with the above threshold capital in-service additions calculated by the capital adjustment module?

DR. PORAY:  Following the 3rd generation IRM methodology, Hydro One proposes to recover the revenue requirement of $21 million that reflects the in-service additions calculated by using the capital adjustment module via a capital rate rider.

The derivation of this rate rider is provided in Hydro One's prefiled evidence at Exhibit B1, tab 2, schedule 1, section 2 on page 3 of 7.

MR. ENGELBERG:  Thank you, Dr. Poray.

I believe now would be an appropriate time for me to introduce the other panel members to throw the proceeding open for questioning and to ask them what their areas of expertise for responding to answers will be.

MR. VLAHOS:  Please proceed.

MR. ENGELBERG:  Thank you.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Just before you do that, Mr. Engelberg, I think you asked the witness what the rate impact was of the proposal.  I don't think I actually -- we actually got an answer to that.

MR. ENGELBERG:  I don't recall asking him what the rate impact is, but I can do that.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Maybe I have misspoken, but I thought you did ask that question.

DR. PORAY:  Sorry, what was the question?  Sorry?

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  I thought that you had been asked the question what the rate impact of your proposition -- proposal is.

DR. PORAY:  Not in these questions.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  That's fine.  I am sure we will get to it at some point.

DR. PORAY:  It's in the evidence.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  That's fine.

MR. ENGELBERG:  To Dr. Poray's right is Bodhan Dumka.  Mr. Dumka, could you state your title at Hydro One and what areas you will be focussing on for answers today?

MR. DUMKA:  I am a regulatory advisor with regulatory affairs, and I will be dealing with the model, inputs into the supplementary filing module that the OEB created.  I will be dealing with the outputs from the model, as well, for example, the determination of the incremental revenue requirement associated with the incremental capital spend.


I will be dealing with finance questions, in general, as well, for example, any questions on the capitalization policy.

MR. ENGELBERG:  Thank you, Mr. Dumka.  To Dr. Poray's immediate left is George Juhn.  Mr. Juhn, would you provide similar information.


MR. JUHN:  I am the manager of distribution development and line sustainment.  I am going to be providing evidence with regard to the work programs, specifics of the work programs.


MR. ENGELBERG:  Thank you.  And to Mr. Juhn's left is Mr. Greg Van Dusen.


MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes, good morning.  I'm the director of business integration and I will be here today to discuss matters associated with business planning and matters associated with the shared services capital area.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Gentlemen, just for technical information here.  The mikes are connected.  So if you shut off at one end, it is per panel.  So same button.


MR. ENGELBERG:  Thank you, Mr. Quesnelle.  I wasn't aware of that.


I believe the panel is now available for cross-examination by Board Staff and intervenors.


MR. VLAHOS:  Thank you, Mr. Engelberg.


I have a list here as to who is going first.  I believe it is CME, Mr. Thompson.  Are you still volunteering?


MR. THOMPSON:  Yes, Mr. Chairman.


MR. VLAHOS:  Okay.  Just if it assists as to the others.  On my list -- and you can tell me if I am wrong on this -- I've got CME first, followed by SEC, Schools, followed by VECC, followed by AMPCO, followed by Energy Probe, followed by PWU, and I don't know whether Mr. Klippenstein of Pollution Probe has questions, or not.  I guess it will depend on the -- I see a question mark here.  I guess that means depending on the resolution of the motion.  And Staff.  CCC will submit argument only, Mr. Miller.


MR. MILLAR:  Yes.  We received an e-mail from Mr. Warren to that effect.


MR. VLAHOS:  Is Mr. Long here on behalf of the Society.  Mr. Long?


MR. LONG:  I don't anticipate any questions at this point.


MR. VLAHOS:  All right.  Thank you.  Then we can proceed in that order.


At some point, Mr. Engelberg, when we break for lunch, you may want to talk to your friends, learned friends, about the argument phase, okay.  So start talking to them so we can have something by the end of the day, at least have some idea as to whether, you know, what is possible, what is -- what are the options.  All right?


MR. ENGELBERG:  Thank you.


MR. VLAHOS:  Thank you.


MR. THOMPSON:  Okay to go, Mr. Chairman?


MR. VLAHOS:  Yes, sir, go ahead.
Cross-Examination by Mr. Thompson:


MR. THOMPSON:  Thanks.  Panel, I represent the Canadian Manufacturers & Exporters.


Let me begin, if I might, with putting these documents, some of these documents you filed this morning into context, if I might.


Let me start with, if I might, with Exhibits KX1.6, KX1.7 and KX1.8.  I will address these questions to you, Mr. Van Dusen, because I think you are familiar with these documents.  We have discussed them in the transmission rate case.  Mr. Vlahos and Mr. Quesnelle are familiar with them, but Mr. Sommerville isn't.  So this is primarily for his benefit.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  I am deeply appreciative, Mr. Thompson.


MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  Would you agree with me, Mr. Van Dusen, that KX1.8, is a document that was presented to the Hydro One board of directors on August 14th, 2008?


MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes, I would agree with that.


MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  And you will see on page -- at the bottom of page 1, in the last bullet point it says:
"The plan presentation is attached as Schedule A."


Would you agree with me that Exhibit K1.7 is what was schedule A to the KX1.8?  So those two documents are the August presentation to the board of directors?


MR. VAN DUSEN:  That is correct.


MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  And then the third document KX1.6, if you go to the second page, you will see it bears the date November 13, 2008 and it has a number of documents attached to it.


Would you agree with me that that is the 2009 budget and 2010-2011 outlook that went to the Hydro One board of directors in November of 2008?


MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes, I would agree with you.


MR. THOMPSON:  These documents were -- can you confirm that these documents were approved by the board of directors as presented?


MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes, they were.


MR. THOMPSON:  What is contained in Exhibit KX1.6, being the November presentation, can you confirm that what was there approved by the board of directors became the basis for the transmission rate filing and the initial distribution rate filing, is that right?  Have I got that straight?


MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes, I can.


MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  Now I will come back to that in a moment.  Just while we're on that set of documents, K1. -- KX1.8, KX1.7, KX1.6, will you agree that you were asked a number of questions about the planning processes and the comments contained in these documents during the course of the transmission rate case?


MR. VAN DUSEN:  That's correct, I was.


MR. THOMPSON:  What we filed this morning as Exhibit K1.11 are excerpts from the transcript of February 24th, 2009, pages 113 to 121, where I was asking you questions -- and I suggested that someone review those excerpts in a letter to Hydro One yesterday.

Did you do that, sir?


MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes, I did.


MR. ENGELBERG:  Mr. Chair, perhaps I could interrupt here for just a minute.  In view of the confidentiality of the documents and the confidential filing requirements, would it be appropriate for this portion of the hearing to be in camera?  I would submit that it would be.


MR. THOMPSON:  I don't think it is necessary.  This transcript is on the public record.  We had discussions about -- the discussions I am having about these documents were not of concern, in terms of their availability to the public.


The concern that was raised and I will try to avoid it insidiously -- was not to refer to anything that reflected profit that is not already disclosed on the public record.


MR. ENGELBERG:  Or anything that is forward-looking.


MR. THOMPSON:  Well, there were forward-looking discussions on the record, but where profit was involved Hydro One wanted it redacted.


This document I am referring to is on the public record.


MR. ENGELBERG:  There's certainly no problem with the document itself.  I have some concerns about the questions that go further than the document.


MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  Well, let me try and assuage your concerns.


Mr. Van Dusen, could you confirm for the record that the questions and answers that were given in Exhibit K1.11 -- this is the initial transcript piece that I referred to -- were with respect to what is marked in this proceeding KX1.8?


In other words the August 14, if you will, cover sheet that went to the board of directors?


MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes, I can confirm that.


MR. THOMPSON:  If I asked you those same questions in this proceeding, would you give me the same answers?


MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes, I would, sir.


MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  Thanks.


Then, sir, with respect to the second transcript excerpt, Exhibit K1.12, that's in volume 4, Redacted Public Revised, so this is what is on the public record in the proceedings, and just so everybody's aware of it, there were certain numbers -- I think I've got it here.  Maybe not.

Yes.  If you go to page 14 of the transcript reference, you will see at lines 15, 21, 25 and I think over the next page, page 15, at line 5, the numbers that were redacted from this, sir?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes, I do see that.

MR. THOMPSON:  They were reference to profits; would you agree?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  They were references to forward-looking returns on equity.

MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  Thanks.

So this is the document that's on the public record.  Would you agree, sir, that these questions related to a comparison of what is in the August presentation to the Board, KX1.7 and 8, and the November presentation to the Board, K1X.6, in this proceeding?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes, I agree with that.

MR. THOMPSON:  If I asked you those same questions today about those exhibits, would you give me the same answers on the record in this case?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes, I would, sir.

MR. THOMPSON:  Thank you very much.

Now, the other two documents that you filed in response to questions I asked of the company in a letter are Exhibits K1.9 and K1.10.  I assume I should direct my questions to you, Mr. Van Dusen, about these?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Generally speaking, yes, although I believe Mr. Juhn will be able to answer some of the questions, depending where you go.

MR. THOMPSON:  So K1.9, Hydro One Distribution asset need asset plan 2009, am I correct that that refers to the distribution capital planning that took place prior to the formulation of the presentations to the board of directors in August?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes.  What these three points represent, in terms of asset need, Sunnybrook 1, Sunnybrook 2 and asset plan final, were snapshots at key points during the planning process which we undertook, which then, as you said correctly, became formation of the Board memos.

MR. THOMPSON:  Would you agree with me that the comparable exhibit dealing with transmission asset need was Exhibit K3.2 in the transmission case?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  I don't recall the number exactly, but, yes, we did file something very comparable in the transmission case.  Yes, sir.

MR. THOMPSON:  Well, subject to check, you would agree with that?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Certainly.

MR. THOMPSON:  Okay, thanks.

The exhibit in the transmission rate case indicated that the Sunnybrook 1 meeting on transmission took place in a date in April.  Am I correct that transmission and distribution are discussed on the same date at Sunnybrook?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Actually, traditionally, they're not.  They're actually separate discussions usually at Sunnybrook.  It varies a bit.  But they were discussed at separate sessions, generally speaking.

MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  But are the discussions on the same day?  In other words, is the date of Sunnybrook 1 re distribution the same as Sunnybrook 1 re transmission?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  It's the same general -- they're within a couple of days of one another, sir.  So, yes, it is same time period.  Sometimes they're a couple of days separated; sometimes they're together.  But, yes, it is the same time period.

MR. THOMPSON:  So Sunnybrook 1 for distribution in April and Sunnybrook 2 for distribution in May, approximately three weeks apart; is that fair?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes.  Approximately, yes, sir.

MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  Then dealing just with the numbers in K1.9, the asset need -- well, first of all, let me just go to K1.10, and then I will come back to K1.9.

K1.10 was requested to provide the distribution capital final plan in relation to the minimum levels that are used in the plan process; is that fair?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes, sir.

MR. THOMPSON:  Would you agree with me that the equivalent exhibit in the transmission rate case was Exhibit J2.7, subject to check?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Subject to me reading the number, yes, I agree that we filed something extremely similar in the transmission rate filing.

MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  Now, this Exhibit K1.10 is showing the filed plan, capital plan, at $460.8 million -- roughly $461 million; correct?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes, sir.

MR. THOMPSON:  And the minimum level, which is something Hydro One uses in its planning process, it has various levels.  There is a minimum level, and then some levels above the minimum level, but that was calculated to be $419 million, roughly?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes, sir, that's correct.

MR. THOMPSON:  So the budget that you are presenting in this case for 2009 is $42 million above the ceiling of the minimum level capital expenditures that Hydro One calculates?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes.  I just want to add at this point in the proceeding a definition of what the minimum level is so there is a very clear understanding.

The minimum level that we use in our risk-based planning process is a risk-based concept.  We plan, as we filed in our evidence in the transmission and previous distribution proceedings, information on our planning process that explains the process.  It explains that for each major category of work -- as an example, taking a look at Exhibit K1.10 for strategic spares transformers, we would plan various levels of work, a minimum level of work, level 1, level 2.  The increase in expenditure would reduce in lower residual risk to the company against our business values.

So the minimum level of expenditure represents an expenditure level that, if maintained over a period of approximately five years, you would expect there to be some event occur, with high probability, that would be very detrimental to the system reliability, safety, for example, to the company.

MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  Well, just to follow up on that, it became clear, as the transmission rate case progressed, that the minimum level category of capital expenditures is something that can actually be planned at anything from, if you will, one dollar to $461 million.

All of that would fall within the minimum level category of capital expenditures; right?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  I'm going to answer -- I'm going to rephrase what you stated in my own words.  I think we are in agreement.

Within the $461 million of proposed expenditures for 2009 distribution in front of this Board, that contains expenditures at minimum levels, level 1 and perhaps level 2, for certain of the areas.  There are a few small cases, as illustrated in the table, where the plan for an individual piece of work is actually slightly below the minimum level.  But, generally speaking, they're at minimum level or higher, yes, sir.

MR. THOMPSON:  Well, I think we understand one another.  My point is the minimum level concept doesn't provide a floor below which you cannot go.

It is a planning tool, and, if you go below the minimum level, somewhere within the minimum level classification of expenses, you increase risk?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  That is correct.  The minimum level is one of the key concepts.  I don't want to downplay it.  It is one of the key concepts, but it is only one of the tools that we bring to bear in terms of determining our overall level of expenditures.

MR. THOMPSON:  Understood.  Above minimum level, you have minimum -- is it minimum level 1, and then above that is minimum level 2?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes.  For any, what we call in our nomenclature, investment driver - as an example, the strategic spares transformers would be roughly an investment driver - with any given investment driver, we actually initially plan various levels of expenditures, a minimum, a level 2, level 3, depending on what we feel we need to do to be able to communicate a message and information to the senior management team, and ultimately to the board of directors, in terms of the work that is being proposed.

MR. THOMPSON:  Would you agree with me that on the transmission side of the business, the plans for 2009, capital expenditure plans are at a level, an amount that would be below the $419 million amount in distribution; in other words, below this minimum level amount?  That's the plan on transmission.  That's what J2.7 in the transmission rate case shows.


MR. VAN DUSEN:  Well shall --

MR. ENGELBERG:  Mr. Chair, I am not sure where my friend is going with this.


My submission is that it's clear how Hydro One sets out the programs that must be done and the capital expenditures, and this has been explained in the past and in Hydro One's prefiled evidence.


I don't want to cut my friend off, but I would like to know if this is going to proceed much longer, because we are getting off track, in my submission.


MR. THOMPSON:  It's not going to proceed much longer if my friend, Mr. Van Dusen, simply agrees that on the transmission side, the capital expenditures in 2009 are being planned in an amount that is below the minimum level for transmission.


MR. VAN DUSEN:  I can confirm that and I gave lengthy evidence on that subject in the transmission proceeding.


The basic summary of that was that Hydro One was extremely uncomfortable with planning the 2009 capital expenditures for transmission, below the minimum level.  The 2010 information which was also in the same exhibit my friend has referenced made reference to an increase above the minimum level which is partly catching up from where we -- the work that we weren't planning to accomplish in 2009.


Once again, there are many considerations taken into account, in terms of the level, the ultimate level and the ultimate amount of dollars we're spending.  Some of those constraints have to do with resourcing constraints, material acquisition of materials, abilities to get outages and, in addition, financial constraints and also our consideration of customer impact and the impact on customers.


MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  Well, let's move on then to Exhibit K1.9, just to make sure I understand these numbers.


Now, in the asset need box -- I am looking at "total" on the right-hand side, Sunnybrook 1, the initial presentation was 689 million, and then Sunnybrook 2 it came back at $30 million less, 659.


Then the final, do I take "final" to mean what's reflected in the August business plan?


MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes, sir, that's correct.


MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  These numbers are all inclusive of -- sorry each of them includes, if I am reading this correctly, smart meters?


MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes.  It does.


MR. THOMPSON:  And to express them with smart meters out, is it appropriate to merely deduct the $167 million that shows in brackets under "shared service" here at the bottom of the page, to deduct that from each of the totals?


MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes, it is.  In addition, I think we're showing one other reconciling item.  There was an item with respect to new PCB programs that was developed after the business plan, but before the rate filing.  That is included, and that represents the other difference between the numbers you see in the filing in front of you.


MR. THOMPSON:  So just to put the $461 million in context, because the $461 million as I understand it is net of smart meters.


MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes, sir, that's correct.


MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  Would you take, subject to check, that Sunnybrook 1 net of smart meters is about $522 million?


MR. VAN DUSEN:  Subject to check, yes, I will accept that.

MR. THOMPSON:  Then Sunnybrook 2 net of smart meters is about $492 million?


MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes, subject to check.


MR. THOMPSON:  Subject to check.


Then asset plan final, reflected in August presentation to board of directors $449 million?


MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes, sir.


MR. THOMPSON:  Then between that presentation and the "as filed," it moved up to $461 million.


MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes, sir.  As I say, that was the PCB related item.


MR. THOMPSON:  Was the $461 million reflected in the September filing of this application, or did that come later?  Let me back up.


You initially filed, I think, in September of 2008.


MR. ENGELBERG:  I think it was at the end of November.  Or November 7th.


MR. THOMPSON:  Okay, maybe I've got this wrong.


MR. ENGELBERG:  That filing, initial filing was really a place holder.  Hydro One was waiting for the results of the distribution hearing.  The real application under consideration today was filed by Hydro One in January of 2009.


MR. THOMPSON:  My apologies.  I had the initial filing -- so initial filing in November, updated filing January 30, 2009.  The only question I was asking is whether the $461 million was reflected in the initial filing?  Or is it something that got added-in between November and January 30, 2009?


MR. VAN DUSEN:  I have just been able to confirm with one of my colleagues, it was added in sort of between November and the January filing, I guess it was.  It had to do with when the legislation got to the point where we felt confident in terms of the estimates of the programs we needed to undertake to be compliant with the legislation.


MR. THOMPSON:  Okay, thanks.


All right.  Let's move to the filing, and let me indicate my client's primary concern is with the incremental capital module claim of $21.3 million.  I will have a few questions at the end of my examination on that topic about impacts, but I just have one preliminary question about the filing with respect to the formula.


In the filing, the formula was producing a price cap percentage multiple of I believe it was 0.98 percent; is that correct?


DR. PORAY:  That's correct.


MR. THOMPSON:  Then we asked you a question about whether that amount is being updated.  I think you will find it at -- where is it -- CME question 2, which is Exhibit I, tab 7, schedule 2.


Am I reading this response correctly to conclude that we will now -- we will use 2.3 percent for the GDPPI amount, rather than the 2.1 percent in the initial filing?


DR. PORAY:  That's correct.


MR. THOMPSON:  So the percentage impact, the price cap percentage amount will increase from 0.98 percent to 1.18 percent?


DR. PORAY:  That is correct.


MR. THOMPSON:  Thanks.


All right, thank you.  Now, in terms of the incremental capital module claim, I am going to call it the ICM claim, if that is okay, of $21.3 million and the background that we think has some relevance to this.


First of all, you mentioned in your examination in-chief the July 13 -- sorry, the July 14, 2008 board report on 3rd generation IRM.  I take it you folks are familiar with that report.


DR. PORAY:  Yes, we are.


MR. THOMPSON:  One of the things the Board determined in that report, will you agree with me, is at page 7, is that the plan term for 3GIRM will be -- those are the Board's words -- fixed at three years.


DR. PORAY:  That's what the report said.


MR. THOMPSON:  Is that correct?  Right.


So I would suggest to you that the report applies to a multi-year 3GIRM plan.  Would you agree?


DR. PORAY:  It does.


MR. THOMPSON:  Now, your approach here is to go 3GIRM for 2009.  You're asking to have your rates set on the basis of 3GIRM for 2009; am I correct?

DR. PORAY:  That's correct.

MR. THOMPSON:  But the evidence indicates clearly that you are opting out of 3GIRM at the end of the first year.  You are coming in with a cost-of-service application in 2010; is that correct?

DR. PORAY:  That's the plan.

MR. THOMPSON:  Well, the company -- does the company intend to carry out that plan?

DR. PORAY:  We have notified the Board that we will be submitting a two-year cost-of-service for 2010 and 2011.

MR. THOMPSON:  So the upshot of all of that, I suggest to you, is that what we're considering in your particular case is not a multi-year IRM plan, but a plan for one year?

DR. PORAY:  We have submitted an application to adjust the rates for 2009.

MR. THOMPSON:  And you have indicated, quite clearly, you will be rebasing or coming in with cost-of-service for 2010?

DR. PORAY:  That's correct.

MR. THOMPSON:  So the IRM plan under consideration in this case is for a term of one year and one year only; would you agree?

DR. PORAY:  That's what Hydro One is following, yes.

MR. THOMPSON:  Thanks.

Now, I would like to just get on the record in this case the evolution of that plan to limit IRM to one year and one year only, and this is a discussion I have had with Mr. Van Dusen in the transmission rate case.

So that will take us to, Mr. Van Dusen, some questions about the August presentation to the board of directors.

What I am going to be asking you here, as far as I'm concerned, doesn't violate any of the confidentiality problems about forward-looking projections.  I would hope I could carry on and if my friend is -- feels I am getting on shaky ground, to stop me.  But I would like to try to keep this on the public record, if I can, to expedite this.

Is that okay with Hydro One?

MR. ENGELBERG:  Yes, it is.

MR. THOMPSON:  All right, thanks.

So, Mr. Van Dusen, if we can just go to - I have lost all of my paper here - the August materials, this is KX1.8, the cover sheet, and KX1.7, schedule A to it.

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes, I have that.

MR. THOMPSON:  The date of this is August 14, 2008.  So would you agree with me it is after the Board's initial 3GIRM report in July of 2008, which is Exhibit K1.13, but before the incremental capital module report of September 17, 2008?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes, sir.

MR. THOMPSON:  All right.

At that time, in terms of planning for 2009 and 2010, if we go to page 4 of Exhibit KX1.8, the first full paragraph, we see that at that time Hydro One was planning to set its distribution rates under the IRM plan for both years, 2009 and 2010, and the anticipated rate increase in that scenario would be net 1 percent?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes, sir, I can confirm that was the planning assumption at that point in time.

MR. THOMPSON:  So at that point you were thinking of using IRM for more than one year; fair?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes, sir.

MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  But that plan changed between August and November; fair?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes, sir, it did.

MR. THOMPSON:  By November, the plan had been formulated to seek distribution rates in 2010 on the basis of a cost-of-service filing?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes, sir, that's correct.

MR. THOMPSON:  Just so we can nail that down, if we look at Exhibit KX1.6 -- excuse me one moment.  I am jumping between documents here.

Sorry, if we go to page 4, excuse me, of -- page numbered 4 at the bottom of the page of KX1.6, it's the page...

You will see in the third line, and following, the statement:

"We are seeking a 2009 increase in distribution rates based on the OEB 3rd generation incentive regulation methodology, 3rd GIRM.  The budget anticipates a return to cost-of-service based filing for 2010 and 2011."

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes, I see that.

MR. THOMPSON:  So that reflects the change in plans between August and November with respect to rates under the 3GIRM model?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes, sir.

MR. THOMPSON:  Then if you turn up page 13 of this document, in the third -- sorry, last paragraph on the page, this document reflects the then thinking with respect to seeking relief under the ICM feature of the 3GIRM; correct?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes, I see that.

MR. THOMPSON:  Just to put that in context, the Board's report dealing with the incremental capital module, ICM, was released on September 17th of 2008?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes, sir.

MR. THOMPSON:  So Hydro One, by November of -- mid November of 2008 had had almost two months to study the report?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes, sir, that's correct.

MR. THOMPSON:  And in the presentation to the board of directors, the decision being made at that time was not to include a capital adjustment under the 3GIRM module.

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes, sir.  And the reasons -- the main reason why at that point in time we decided not to include it is we still had not received our final 2008 distribution decision.

So we were a little unclear of what the 3rd generation IRM was going to do for Hydro One at that point in time.

So as indicated, I believe, by our legal counsel, we had put a place holder -- we submitted a place holder in early November to the Board, and once we got our final decision on distribution, we updated our submission to include the capital module.

MR. THOMPSON:  So explain what you mean by that.  Are you suggesting that at Hydro One no calculations had been done following the September decision to see if Hydro One would qualify under this model that the Board had reported upon?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  I am not quite sure what you mean by "qualify," sir.

MR. THOMPSON:  Well, what do you think it means?

MR. ENGELBERG:  With respect, I don't think that is a fair question to put to the witness.  If a clear question is put to him, I am sure he will be able to answer it.

MR. THOMPSON:  Well, it's a word that is actually used in the November presentation to the board of directors, so I thought the witness might be able to help me.

If you wouldn't mind turning up in this material the November presentation.  After the text ends on page 21, there's a schedule B.  Then following that there is a schedule C with a number of slides or pages.

Do you see that, Mr. Van Dusen?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes, I do.

MR. THOMPSON:  If you go to page 7 or slide 7 under the heading "plan update from August," the second bullet point says this: Mechanism includes a capital adjustment for which Hydro One will qualify.

So just stopping there, whoever wrote this was -- had done the calculation under the module and concluded Hydro One will qualify.  What did that mean?

MR. DUMKA:  Perhaps I can clarify things.  As you may know, Mr. Thompson, we put in a place holder filing November 7th under the 3GIRM.

And that reflected a capital module, as you are well aware.  So we had put in a place holder at that point in time, without having a decision on our 2008 rates.  And our intention, going in, was:  We put in a nominal application.  Once we got our decision on our 2008 rates, we would re-evaluate what we would be doing.

I think, as was noted earlier on, in January, once we had a draft rate order and all of the ducks were in line with the decision, we updated this application.  That's what we're here today discussing.

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Sorry, as a matter of clarification.  You have to remember this is a document given to our board of directors.  Our board of directors had last seen a presentation in August on this.  This was -- as the slide says it is an update.  What are the plan updates from August?

It was a matter of just updating the Board, that the OEB now has issued material on the 3rd generation IRM that includes a capital module, looks like we qualify.  It was a fairly harmless statement.  I'm sorry I didn't understand the context originally.

MR. THOMPSON:  Well, the capital budget that went to the Board in November for distribution, was it $460 million?  Or thereabouts?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  I believe it was the 461, less the approximately eleven million dollars for the PCB amount, yes, sir.

MR. THOMPSON:  So had somebody done a calculation on the basis of $451 million, in terms of the Board's September 3GIRM report and concluded at that number, "we will qualify"?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  I'm sorry.  It's your use of the word "qualify".

MR. THOMPSON:  It's your word, not mine.

MR. VAN DUSEN:  There is a difference between, will we qualify, i.e., do the Board's rules allow us to file a capital module.  That's all we meant by "qualify."  Once again, you have to take it, this is updating our board of directors from August, when we weren't clear whether there would be a capital module and what it would look like and whether we would qualify, to November when we did know we would qualify.  It was a simple clarification to our board of directors that, yes, now we would qualify.

But in terms of your question seems to imply, was there a numerical calculation done?  That's a different question.  I actually am not aware of whether we did preliminary financial assessments based on the Board's reports.  I just don't know.

MR. DUMKA:  To clarify for Mr. Van Dusen.  As you know, we filed a 3GIRM application on November 7th with this Board and it included a capital module.

So, yes, we went through the calculation, confirmed that we meet the criteria, and we put in a place holder application on November 7th.

And as Mr. Van Dusen was clarifying, in the Board presentation to -- the Hydro One board presentation in or about November 14th, it was stated that, yes, we would qualify for capital module under 3GIRM.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Just a clarification on this.  The report of September, the addendum, did not address the capital module at all.

The addendum addressed the sensitivity analysis respecting the benchmarking exercise.

The capital module was reflected in the report of July.  Isn't that right, Mr. Poray?

DR. PORAY:  No.  Actually, the July report left three things for further consultation.  One was the total factor productivity.  One was the stretch factor, and the other one was the threshold for triggering the capital adjustment module that the Board wanted further consultation, then we had the workshop in August and following that workshop the Board issued the supplement which was the final report.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  I can't imagine how I forgot that, but I did.  I stand corrected, thank you.

MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  Well, let's come back to this page I was referencing previously.

Just before I do.  In the November -- was it November 7th filing of the initial 3GIRM application?  Is that correct, sir?

MR. DUMKA:  That's correct.

MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  You are telling me there was -- I don't have the original material in front of me, but are you saying there was an amount included in that for ICM?

MR. DUMKA:  That's correct.  In fact, I thought you referenced that in one of the e-mails you sent the other day, in terms of your areas of interest in the cross-examination.

MR. THOMPSON:  No.  What was the amount included in the November filing?

MR. DUMKA:  It was in the, approximately the same range.  We're in a different situation, in that, again, I would like to remind this Board, when we put the filing in on November 7th we still did not have approved 2008 rates.  We were still waiting for a decision from this Board.

So we submitted a, I will call it a place holder 3GIRM application, with the assumption smart meters would be in rate base, that is not what happened in the decision in December.

So the application we put in on November 7th was consistent with our application for 2008 rates.

So we had a capital module, which included smart meter spending in 2009, in addition to the $461 million which we're talking to today.

MR. THOMPSON:  Well, I am puzzled by that, because somebody's reporting to the board of directors on November the 13th, 2008, if you go to page 13 of -- I guess it is the executive summary of this document:  We have not included a capital adjustment as we are continuing to assess and analyze the OEB adjustment model and its applicability to our capital program.

You are telling me you had it included in an application filed a week earlier.  Is that right?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes, sir, but this is just a matter of the timing according to the governance structure.  We have to mail the material out to the board of directors well in advance of -- prepare the material and review it with the senior management team.  So the material was prepared and mailed out well in advance of the actual November 13th date.  So it is just a coincidence of the timing.  That having been said, it is unclear that the, how we would have necessarily adjusted the November filing at that point in time, given that we still hadn't had our 2008 decision.

MR. THOMPSON:  So are you telling me, whoever wrote this stuff that went to the board of directors didn't know something had been filed seeking an ICM amount?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  No, sir, that is not correct.  The people who wrote it were aware of what was going on.  But as Mr. Dumka has clearly indicated, there were major changes in the distribution decision affecting what we would have included, the major one being the inclusion of smart meters which we had asked to be put in rate base.

There were some other changes.

So we realized that there was a high potential that some the information that we were currently using in planning may not have been accepted by the Board and we were correct they asked us not to includes in revenue requirement the smart meters, but to continue via the rate rider application.  So that was the background behind that decision, sir.

MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  Well, let's get back to schedule C, then, and it's at page 7.  If you just go back to the cover sheet, this was presented by Beth Summers on November 13th, 2008.  At least it has that date on the facing sheet; is that fair?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  I'm sorry, what exhibit are you in, sir?

MR. THOMPSON:  It's the facing sheet for schedule C to the material that went to the board of directors in November 2008.

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes, sir.

MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  Was that prepared at or around that time, to your knowledge?

Do you report to Beth Summers?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  I have a reporting relationship to the CFO, yes.  Ms. Summers has subsequently left the company.  Mr. Sandy Struthers is now the CFO of the company.

But, yes, as I indicated in the transmission and I can indicate here, I participated in the preparation of all of the documents, the confidential documents that are in front of the Board today.

I can tell the Board that we started working on this presentation, on this board memo, even at the end of August.  So this material was under development through August, and obviously the finalization of it through the meetings with the senior management team, including the corporate controller, including the CFO and the executive committee, it was through the early to mid October period.

MR. THOMPSON:  So you are telling me you are familiar with what's behind the words in this schedule C; do I understand you correctly?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Generally speaking, yes, sir.

MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  Well, then go to page 7, this bullet point I drew your attention to a moment ago, and will read the whole thing:
"The mechanism includes a capital adjustment for which Hydro One will qualify.  However, the plan has not incorporated this adjustment due to uncertainty over its applicability to the capital program."

Do you see that?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes, sir.

MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  Now, list for me the factors that were giving rise to that uncertainty?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Sir, it has to do with the smart meters, as I indicated.  It was whether smart meters would be included or not, and that would have a huge impact on the submission.

And that was the great uncertainty.  It's a large number of dollars, $168 million, and it was that uncertainty, sir.

MR. THOMPSON:  Smart meters only?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Generally speaking, that was the major item.  We knew at that point, as well, that there was some -- that the legislation around PCBs, as well, could impact the filing as well.  But, obviously, in terms of relative dollars, it was small.

MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  I'll come back to that issue of uncertainties in a moment.  If you will just now go with me to the supplemental report of the Board, September 17, which has been marked K1.14, to a few excerpts from the decision -- do you have a copy of that, panel?

DR. PORAY:  Yes, we do.

MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  And the discussion of the rationale for the Board policy and rationale with respect to the module starts at page 30; fair?

DR. PORAY:  Yes, we are.

MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  The first paragraph under the heading "Board Policy and Rationale", the Board notes that:
"There are clearly differences in perception as to the purpose of the incremental capital module.  Ratepayer groups perceive the capital module as a mechanism aimed solely at addressing extraordinary or special cap-ex needs by distributors.  Distributors, on the other hand, perceive the module as a special feature of the 3rd generation IR architecture which will enable them to adjust rates on an ongoing, as-needed basis to accommodate increases in rate base."

Does that fairly describe the differences between the perception, in your view?

DR. PORAY:  Well, in our view, the issue of the capital adjustment module, really throughout the entire process of the 3rd generation IRM, was the fact that the price cap index would be insufficient to adjust the rates to capture the cost of the capital expenditure.

So the utilities were coming from the perspective that they expected to have significant capital investments that would need to be addressed.

MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  Well, would it be fair for me to suggest that, from the distributor's perspective, they were looking for something that would be the equivalent of a Y factor; in other words, a pass-through of capital costs?

DR. PORAY:  I don't understand how -- your use of the Y factor, because these are not pass-through costs.

Typically, a Y factor is associated with costs which the utility passes on to its consumers that come from external sources.

So, for example, in natural gas, Y factors are applied in respect of natural gas commodity charges and upstream transportation.

The equivalent in the electricity industry would be the retail transmission service charge, the wholesale market charge, the commodity charges.  In other words, Y factors deal with costs which are non utility based.

MR. THOMPSON:  Well, maybe my use of the phrase "Y factors" has detracted from the object of the question.  I was trying to paraphrase this sentence in the Board's report:
"Distributors on the other hand perceive the module as a special feature of the 3rd generation IR architecture, which would enable them to adjust rates on an ongoing, as-needed basis to accommodate increases in rate base."

Forget the phrase "Y factor".  That, I suggest to you, and the position of distributors, was it should be a cost-of-service pass-through.  To the extent we have added capital, we get coverage.

DR. PORAY:  Not necessarily.  It wasn't a cost-of-service type assumption.

What we argued for was to make some recognition in the 3rd generation IRM model, as a whole, to recognize the fact that there are some utilities that are faced with significant capital expenditures that need some other mechanism for adjusting their rates to be able to cover the costs associated with those capital expenditures.


But the whole thing was the utilities were coming from the perspective of a 3rd generation IRM model.  So we were trying to work with the Board in making the model work.

MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  Now, on the next page, the Board stated:
"In the Board's view, the distributor's view is not aligned with the comprehensive price cap form of IR which has been espoused by the Board in its July 14, 2008.  The distributor's concept better fits a targeted OM&A or hybrid form of IR."

That sentence, I suggest to you, confirms that the Board's perception was that you were -- distributors were seeking a cost-of-service pass-through.

DR. PORAY:  No, there was no cost-of-service pass-through.

MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  The Board goes on further and says:
"The capital module is intended to be reserved for unusual circumstances that are not captured as a Z factor."

Right?

DR. PORAY:  That's what this says.

MR. THOMPSON:  Do I take you to be saying, in your evidence-in-chief, We fall within the unusual circumstances categorization?

DR. PORAY:  Certainly.  And I would continue with that sentence, which says:

"... and where the distributor has no other options for meeting its capital requirements within the context of its financial capacity as underpinned by existing rates."

So, in other words, this recognizes the fact that there may be circumstances, these unusual circumstances, where the price cap would be insufficient and, therefore, you have to have something, some other mechanism, to allow the utility to submit evidence in support of its capital expenditures.

MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  I will move on.

Are you suggesting -- well, let me ask you this.  Is the $461 million capital budget a business-as-usual budget?

DR. PORAY:  As I referred to in my direct, the utility finds itself in a situation -- in the circumstances which are unusual from the perspective that there is a lot of work that has to be done to meet its accountabilities and requirements under the various codes and licence and standards.

And the work that is being done is the normal work that's being done, but it is at the level of work that has to be done.

As I indicated, our capital expenditures have been growing significantly since 2002.


MR. THOMPSON:  I will let others explore that response in further detail.


Another sentence on page 31 I draw your attention to, and that's down in the last full paragraph, where the Board says in the last sentence: In calculating rate relief, the Board is determined not to apply the half-year rule so as not to build in a deficiency for subsequent years in the term of the plan.


Do you see that?


DR. PORAY:  Yes, I see that.


MR. THOMPSON:  That sentence I suggest to you only has meaning in the context of a multi-year commitment to IRM.  Would you agree?


DR. PORAY:  I will have Mr. Dumka explain that.


MR. DUMKA:  It's my understanding that, yes, indeed this statement envisages --

MR. THOMPSON:  Can you speak up, please, I can't hear you.

MR. DUMKA:  Yes, I'm sorry.  Yes, I agree with you in terms of that statement, it envisages a two or three-year term for 3GIRM.


MR. THOMPSON:  What the Board has before it in this case is not a – you have not committed to a three-year IGRM, your plan is to opt out after year one.

MR. DUMKA:  At this current point in time, that's what I understand to be the case.


MR. ENGELBERG:  I question the use of the words "opt out."  It is not a three-year application that Hydro One has applied for that it intends to opt out of after one year.  It is an application for one year, for 2009.  There won't be any opting out.


MR. THOMPSON:  Maybe we're quibbling.  We have been told in the transmission case, as well as I thought in response to interrogatories in this case, 2010 will be a cost-of-service presentation -- have I got that straight --for distribution?


MR. ENGELBERG:  That's correct.


MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  Let's just leave it there.


So coming back to the uncertainties that existed in the applicability of this mechanism to your capital program, which are mentioned in this slide that went to the board of directors in August of -- sorry, November 2008, was there uncertainty as to whether the module that the Board's report addresses had any application to a one-year IGRM program?


MR. VAN DUSEN:  Excuse me for a moment.


[Witness panel confers]

MR. VAN DUSEN:  I am not aware of any discussions surrounding the length of the term as being part of the uncertainty there.  I just don't know.


MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  Well there any uncertainty as to whether the Board's module applied to a business-as- usual capital program.  In other words, if you were merely continuing capital programs that began in 2008, was there uncertainty in the corporation as to whether that scenario took you outside of the IGRM model.

MR. ENGELBERG:  Mr. Chair, I object to my friend's use of the phrase "business as usual," because it is apparent to me, from the way the witnesses have answered and the way he has used it, that different people think "business as usual" means different things.


MR. THOMPSON:  Let me try to rephrase it.

MR. ENGELBERG:  Dr. Poray spoke about the unusual circumstances in which Hydro One finds itself and also with respect to the fact that the 2009 capital work is new capital work.


MR. THOMPSON:  Let me try to rephrase it then to stay away from that concept that is troubling the panel.


In the interrogatory responses and perhaps in the evidence, the prefiled evidence, there is an indication that spending in 2009 is primarily a continuation of 2008 programs.  Is that fair?


MR. VAN DUSEN:  I think, as Dr. Poray indicated in his presentation, it may be a continuation of the same type of work, but it is new work.


So we have a pole replacement project.  We did different poles in 2008.  We're doing brand new poles in 2009.  It is different capital for different purposes.  It's the same generic work program, that's true.


MR. THOMPSON:  And the extent to which they’re incremental programs in 2009, I understand that's not a great deal of money in the big scheme of things; is that fair?


MR. VAN DUSEN:  I think that would be a correct statement.  Generally speaking, the 2009 capital expenditures in distribution reflect by and large the continuation of work programs to be done.


There are however, going forward, some new items which have been noted, the work on distributed generation, the work on smart grid, our need to adjust to the PCB legislation.  There are items which, in 2009 and going forward are having an impact on our business.


MR. THOMPSON:  But numerically, are they a small component of the $461 million?  Relatively small?


MR. VAN DUSEN:  Relatively speaking.


MR. THOMPSON:  So did those facts create any uncertainty as to whether the module applied or didn't apply?


DR. PORAY:  No.  Those did not create uncertainty.  I think it has always been Hydro One's view, throughout this proceeding, in the 3rd generation IRM, that again the price cap index is insufficient to cover the costs of the capital work that has to go on year over year.


As I indicated in my direct, the capital expenditures have been growing.  And it is that unusual circumstance that we find ourselves in where the capital expenditures are outpacing the rate at which depreciation changes that's causing us the concern with just the application of the price cap index.


MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  Let's move on, then, to the calculation of the --

MR. VLAHOS:  Mr. Thompson, sorry to interrupt you.  How much more will you be, sir?  I am just looking at the possibility of a lunch break.  I am concerned about the reporter.


MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  Well, I think I would finish in a half hour, or, yes, I would finish by 12:30 if you wanted to drag it or come back, it doesn't matter to me.


MR. VLAHOS:  Okay, let's proceed then.


MR. THOMPSON:  Now, coming to the calculation that you have done.  In the context of what I call a one-year incentive regulation plan, would you agree with me that as a matter of principle, when you are dealing with a one-year incentive IRM program, the company should not recover more in terms of its capital costs, carrying costs with respect to capital expenditure than it would get under cost-of-service.  It's a fairness principle.


MR. DUMKA:  No, I disagree.  We've put in an application within the framework of this 3rd generation IRM model that the Board has developed.  So we've follow the model fairly, I believe, in terms of what we've put into it and what we've applied for here.


MR. THOMPSON:  That wasn't my question.  The model relates to a multi-year IRM plan.


MR. DUMKA:  Well, our --

MR. THOMPSON:  Yours is not a multi-year plan.


MR. DUMKA:  I will correct you, sir.  This is a one year application and all 3GIRM applications are for a single test year.


MR. THOMPSON:  Well, let's go back to the Board's quote at page 31 where it talks about the application of the half year rule.  What it says is: In calculating rate relief, the Board has determined not to apply half-year rule so as not to build in a deficiency for subsequent years in the term of the plan.  That's what the Board says; right?


MR. DUMKA:  Yes.


MR. THOMPSON:  And I suggest to you under the approach you've taken, the half-year rule must apply because, in the second year, the year following 2009, you will be rebasing.

So there's not going to be any consequences of non-recovery in subsequent years of the plan in what you're presenting, because there is only one year in your plan.

MR. DUMKA:  Well, I don't entirely agree with you, sir.  Again, 3GIRM is a single test year application, not a two- or a three-year application.

Yes, I agree at this point in time Hydro One has indicated its intention is to put in a cost-of-service application later this year, but until that happens, we are still living within the 3rd generation IRM regime.

So we still have the option, which we may exercise later this year, rather than a cost-of-service application, to put in a 3GIRM application for 2010 test year.

MR. THOMPSON:  Well, let me come at it this way.  In one of the -- what I sent to counsel by letter a couple of days ago was an interrogatory response that Hydro One had provided in the transmission case with respect to a reduction in its capital budget of about $94 million.

Are you familiar with that interrogatory response?

MR. DUMKA:  I don't believe -- sorry, was this with regards to...

DR. PORAY:  Hang on.  Excuse us for a minute.

[Witness panel confers]

MR. THOMPSON:  Is anybody on the panel familiar with it?  I don't care who answers these questions.

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes, sir, I have that, and I did see that when you sent it in.

MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  There, we were dealing with a $944 million capital budget, and the question from Mr. Aiken's client was:  What is the impact of reducing that by 10 percent, which, in other words, would be a $94.4 million amount?

The response indicates the 10 percent reduction amounts to $94.4 million and indicates that the resulting reduction in revenue requirement, in a capital budget reduction scenario in a cost-of-service format, would be $5 million.

Would you take that subject to check?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  I have it here, and there's two clarifications in that same response.  It indicates very clearly that this example was given for illustrative purposes only.

In addition, it says that the assumption was made, in transmission, that all the capital expenditures would result in equivalent reduction in in-service capital.  So those were two explicit assumptions that drove the 5 million, but subject to that, yes, the 5 million is our response.

MR. THOMPSON:  My simple point is that if you assume your incremental capital amount is $174 million that you are going to spend over the course of 2009, you are asking for $174 million, and if you spend that uniformly over the year, you would not recover the $21.3 million you are requesting in a cost-of-service model.  Do you agree?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Hypothetically, yes.  I mean, but we are -- we're not in a cost-of-service model.  We are in a 2009 3rd generation IRM model.

MR. THOMPSON:  If you spent the -- and in the cost-of-service model, you would have to forecast in-service dates, and, to the extent all of that work was going to be performed, say, in the last quarter of the year, you would recover far less than half of the 21 million you are seeking; fair?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Hypothetically, that calculation would be correct, but, once again, it is a hypothetical.  It has nothing to do with the application in front of the Board today.

MR. THOMPSON:  Well, we will argue that, but the strict cost-of-service recovery, I suggest to you, if you assume the $174 million is spent uniformly from day 1 over the course of the year, would produce an amount that is roughly half the $21.3 million.  Would you agree with that?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Generally speaking, under the assumption of a cost-of-service regime, that would be correct.

MR. THOMPSON:  So that would be something in the order of 10 million, roughly?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Roughly, yes.

MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  If we assume that the incremental is spent in the last quarter of the year, not spent uniformly over the 12 months, then that ten would become 2-1/2 million under cost-of-service; fair?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Once again, under the hypothetical assumption that we had detailed in-service dates associated with the entire spend for distribution and it happened in the last quarter, yes, your rough calculation rule of thumb would be generally correct.

MR. VLAHOS:  Sorry, Mr. Thompson, that assumes that the company follows, I guess, the average or monthly averages in terms of determining rate base, as opposed to the half-year rule for capital expenditures?

I am not sure.  Do you know, or -- someone has to clarify it for me.

MR. THOMPSON:  I think the result is similar to what I am suggesting, if I am not mistaken.

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Sir, I can confirm that the company does use the half-year rule, except in the circumstances where we have large projects that are obviously very clear when they come into service.  So for program-related work an ongoing nature -- tree trimming, we would apply the half-year rule.  To the extent you had some major specific project you could specifically identify an in-service date, we would use that.

MR. VLAHOS:  All right, thank you.  So it is both ways. then?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes, sir.

MR. THOMPSON:  Just a few questions on the calculation.  In the appendix here -- let me find it.

Excuse me.  It's B2, tab 1, appendix A, and this is -- page 8 of 8 is the one I wanted to look at, primarily, but just on page 6 of 8, there we see how you have derived the incremental capital of $174 million; is that correct?

MR. DUMKA:  Yes, that's correct.

MR. THOMPSON:  Thank you.

MR. DUMKA:  Yes, that's correct.

MR. THOMPSON:  Then when we go over to appendix F, page 8 of this, this is the calculation that you used to come up with the $21.3 million at the bottom of the table; right?

MR. DUMKA:  Yes.  This is the Board model.  It actually calculates all of the figures that land to the 21.3 million.

MR. THOMPSON:  This is the full-year calculation?

MR. DUMKA:  That's my understanding.

MR. THOMPSON:  Well, don't you know?

MR. DUMKA:  As I said, that's my understanding.

MR. THOMPSON:  All right.

So when we get to the cost of capital amounts - and this is now for 2009 - you are using, at rate of return of equity line, 8.57, and the short-term interest line 4.47 percent; is that right?

MR. DUMKA:  Those are the values which the OEB put in the model, because this is not a cost-of-service application.

These particular cost of capital parameters line up with our approved 2008 revenue requirement in rates.

So the Board specified that these were the rates that we were supposed to use in our 3GIRM application.

MR. THOMPSON:  Well, I say that had to be for a three-year model, but will you take, subject to check, the short-term interest rate that the Board has published for 2009 is 1.33 percent?

MR. DUMKA:  Yes.  If we were in a cost-of-service application, I would imagine we would use a figure like that.

MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  Well, you may find yourself in one, really.

The equity return is 8.01 percent, rather than the 8.57?

MR. DUMKA:  That's my understanding.  Again, if we were in a cost-of-service application, we would be using a figure in that range.

MR. THOMPSON:  The PILs rate you have used is 33 percent.

MR. DUMKA:  Again, as specified by the Board model, and I believe that was the current tax rate which was in existence at the point in time the Board provided this model for our use.

MR. THOMPSON:  But if I asked you, would you change those numbers for 2009, agree to change those numbers, your answer is no, because it is not a cost-of-service application.  Is that right?

MR. DUMKA:  My response would be in the Board in its decision if it specified that there were new income tax, corporate income tax rates in effect for 2009 we would be following the Board direction.

MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  Okay, well I can argue whether your 21 is fair or unfair.

Just in terms of the impact of a reduction in the $461 million, if the Board directs that you haven't proven that level.  If you would turn up CME question number 3, Exhibit I, tab 7, schedule 3.  We asked:  What would be the impact on the 21.3 million if the Board found that your capital budget of $461 million was overstated by 15 percent, and you indicated the 21.3 million would reduce to 12.8 million.

Do you see that answer?

MR. DUMKA:  Yes, I do.

MR. THOMPSON:  Am I correct that the way that has been derived is you've simply taken 15 percent of $460 million and deducted it from the $174 million.

MR. DUMKA:  That's correct.

MR. THOMPSON:  Then you express that number over the 174 million, which is about 40 percent, leaving 60 percent in.  So the number, 12.8 million is 60 percent of 21.3 million.

MR. DUMKA:  That's correct.

MR. THOMPSON:  Is that the math?  Thanks very much.

We also asked in this interrogatory some questions about delays in in-service dates.  We were basically told nothing in response to those questions.

Are there any in-service dates in the material that you have presented to support the capital budget, forecast in-service dates?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Just one second, please.

There was some information filed.  If you take a look at the investment summary documents which are Exhibit B1, tab 3, schedule 7, there is some information on in-service dates associated with some of the investments to the extent that they had specific in-service dates.  This goes back to my earlier comment that much of the program work would be covered under the half-year rule and any of the specific projects would have planned in-service dates.

MR. THOMPSON:  But is the evidentiary support for your distribution budget in this filing equivalent to what it would be in a cost-of-service filing, or is it less stringent, generally speaking?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Dr. Poray could talk to this in more detail, but the assumption with respect to capital expenditures under 3rd generation IRM is that they go into service in the year.  So all of the capital expenditures are treated as if they go in service in the year.

In the distribution business, that is by and large a correct assumption, although it probably doesn't line up 100 percent with the business planning assumption that might be utilized for a cost-of-service application.

MR. THOMPSON:  So is that -- it's less intensive than normally filed?  Or the same?  Can you grade it for me?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  This is the application that we were - brought before the Board, and this is the requirements under that application and we met the requirements.  I don't know what else I could say.

MR. THOMPSON:  Thank you.  Now, finally, with respect to impacts --

DR. PORAY:  Mr. Thompson, I would just like to add that we have followed the same planning process that we do, that we have in the cost-of-service proceeding.

So I would say that the information that we have provided you is of similar quality.

MR. THOMPSON:  Okay, well I will let others explore that.

My last area is with respect to impacts, and perhaps the best way to deal with that is go to the application document, Exhibit A, tab 2, schedule 1, on page 2.

DR. PORAY:  Yes, we have it.

MR. THOMPSON:  There is as well a customer impact tab in the material, I believe.  Am I right?  A sub-tab dealing with impacts?

DR. PORAY:  There is a tab C, C1-3, to C1-6 which has provided impact assessments, yes.

MR. THOMPSON:  I am just going to focus on the application numbers.  What the application is telling us is that the distribution rate increase for the average customer relative to the proposed 2008 rates will be on average 4 percent; is that correct?

DR. PORAY:  That's correct.

MR. THOMPSON:  Back in the August presentation to the board of directors, as well as in the November presentation to the board of directors, the estimated distribution rate impact for 2009 was 1 percent.  Would you take that subject to check?

DR. PORAY:  Yes, subject to check, yes.

MR. THOMPSON:  So the impacts have then quadrupled between the November filing and this on a percentage basis, have gone from 1 percent to 4 percent.  Is that all attributable to the incremental capital module claim?

DR. PORAY:  No.  The breakdown basically is that the capital, that the capital -- sorry, the price cap index would give us 1.18 percent.

There is a smart meter rate adder, which would give us 1 percent.  So that's 2.28 percent.

And the remaining amount just over 2 percent would be from the capital adjustment module.

MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  So without the ICM, 2.28 percent?

DR. PORAY:  2.28 percent.  The automatic adjustments as a result of the price cap and the smart meter rate adder.

MR. THOMPSON:  And what takes it from 2.28 to 4 is the ICM?

DR. PORAY:  That's correct.

MR. THOMPSON:  Then the evidence goes on that this amounts to a 1.5 percent increase for the average residential total bill.

My question is, and you may have to do this by way of undertaking, in terms of -- I represent some general service customers above the 50 threshold, and I think there are two subsets of those customers.  Can you give us the bill impact on those subsets customers, if it's not already in the evidence, by undertaking?

DR. PORAY:  My understanding is it should be in the evidence, in the C sections.  It is all in there.

MR. THOMPSON:  Can you tell me what it is?

DR. PORAY:  If you just...

The impacts are shown in Exhibit -- this is in Exhibit B1, tab 2, schedule 1, page 6 of 7, section 5, talks about bill impact analysis.  It talks there -- it says at the bottom:
"The impacts are shown in Exhibit C, tab 1, schedule 3 to 6."

And then it enumerates what the schedules contain.

This would be for all customer classes of Hydro One.  So that would include the general service -- energy and general service demand.

MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  Well, I will have to go there.  I don't have those volumes with me.  But, big picture, are the bill impacts on those customers greater than 1.5 percent on average?

DR. PORAY:  I don't know.  I would have to check that.  I don't have that information with me.

MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  Well, let's leave it there.  If I need an undertaking, I will come back and ask for one.

Is there somewhere in the evidence we can also see the range of distribution impacts?  Like, it talks about the average being 4 percent.  What's the low end of the range and the high end of the range for the customer classes?

DR. PORAY:  The schedules that I have enumerated here do contain the range of impacts based on consumption levels from -- so all of that information is contained in there.

MR. THOMPSON:  Thank you very much, gentlemen.  Those are my questions.

MR. VLAHOS:  Thank you, Mr. Thompson.  We will break for lunch for an hour.

--- Luncheon recess taken at 12:30 p.m.


--- On resuming at 1:30 p.m.

MR. VLAHOS:  Please be seated.


Mr. Klippenstein and Mr. Engelberg, the Panel was able to reach a decision on the motion, and it here is the Panel's ruling.

DECISION:


MR. VLAHOS:  Pollution Probe filed a motion requesting that the Board order Hydro One to provide a full and adequate response to Pollution Probe's interrogatories.


Through its interrogatories, Pollution Probe seeks to obtain historical information regarding Hydro One's CDM programs.  In particular, Pollution Probe's interrogatories seek historical information on megawatt and megawatt-hours savings, and total resource cost savings, and budgets and expenditures.  This information has also been sought on a forecast basis for 2009, and Pollution Probe also seeks a number of specific questions with respect to the Peaksaver CDM program.


Hydro One did not respond to this interrogatory for the reason it has not requested any funding for CDM programs in this application and, as such, the information requested is not available in the context of this application.


In its motion, Pollution Probe states that Hydro One had provided full and adequate responses to similar interrogatories as part of the 2008 rates case, which suggests, according to Pollution Probe, the answers to the current interrogatories could be given by Hydro One.


Pollution Probe argues that without the provision of those answers and review of CDM activities in this matter, there would appear to be no forum for official oversight of Hydro One's activities.


IRM is intended to be a formulaic, mechanistic exercise to achieve a very specific purpose, namely to establish rates between cost-of-service reviews.


A special feature of the 3rd generation IRM is for utilities to apply for incremental and capital investment requirements.  These matters have been stipulated and articulated in several Board documents and a few of them have been referenced today.


The 3rd generation IRM process is not intended to provide opportunities for oversight of other aspects of a utility's operations.   As important as CDM may be, it is one such other aspect of a utility's operations.  Allowing other aspects such as CDM would defeat the purpose that the IRM process intended to accomplish.


The Panel does not agree with Pollution Probe's interpretation of the passage quoted by Pollution Probe as to the role of CDM in the IRM process.  The passage referred to is in the Board's report dated July 14th, 2008 and reads as follows:
"As a result of these 3rd generation IR consultations, the Board has determined that CDM-related costs recovered through distribution rates (i.e., any new spending on CDM, revenues from recovery of a lost revenue adjustment claim, or a shared savings claim) will continue to be dealt with separately from the IR rate adjustment."


The plain words of that passage do not support Pollution Probe's proposition that CDM is part of the IRM plan, and that separation refers to the rate adjustments being two distinct adjustments.


The Panel agrees with Hydro One's proposition that by separation, what the Board intended was separation of processes such as proceedings.


And the Panel also notes that in the 54/55 decisions the Board has issued in the last few days with respect to the IRM process, there is a reference where the Board says the price cap index adjustment does not apply to the following components of rates and does list about a dozen or so, or ten different components.


CDM is not on that list.  So those IRM decisions are, in the Panel's view, further indication as to the intent the Board had by not including CDM in the IRM process.


As a result, given all of the above, the Panel was not persuaded that Hydro One should be ordered to produce the information contained in the motion.  The information being sought by Pollution Probe is not within the scope of the 3rd generation IRM process.  Therefore, the motion is dismissed.


Any questions?


Okay, with that, Mr. Engelberg.  I am just reminded that I did leave it with you, Mr. Engelberg, in terms of argument.  Did you get a chance to speak to the other counsel?


MR. ENGELBERG:  We did have a brief discussion and although Hydro One has some views on it, we thought it would be better to perhaps explore, after the afternoon break, after we have an opportunity to see how much further we get today and where we are his afternoon.  But if you would like to do it now --

MR. VLAHOS:  Let's canvas it now.  Let me throw out to the parties in terms of oral versus written, can I hear some views?


MR. SHEPHERD:  Mr. Chairman, the intervenors have discussed this at some length actually and we have discussed it with Mr. Engelberg.


Certainly I think we are all of a mind that the information in this proceeding is too complex to do by way of oral evidence, particularly since much of the evidence is coming in today and tomorrow through oral testimony.  So it would -- we would need some time to deal with that before making submissions on it.


In our -- in my view, my client would be prejudiced if we were required to make oral submissions without having a chance to look at the evidence.  That's particularly true given that many of our interrogatories were the subject of refusals, and so we are forced to get the evidence on the record in the oral proceeding.

MR. VLAHOS:  Okay.  Anyone in support of an oral submission stage?

MR. ENGELBERG:  Mr. Chair, Hydro One is -- I believe when Mr. Shepherd was speaking and used the words "we're all of a mind", he was referring to intervenors.  Hydro One would prefer, in light of the May 1 start date -- proposed start date for these rates, that the matter be determined as quickly as possible.

Hydro One submits that the argument can and should be done orally, and Hydro One is prepared to do so.

MR. VLAHOS:  Mr. Engelberg, can you assist the Board as to what is the latest date that you would have a decision so that you could implement rates on May 1st, 2009?

MR. ENGELBERG:  I will need to confer with some of my clients for a couple of minutes, if I may now, to get that answer.

MR. VLAHOS:  Could you do that, please?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Mr. Chairman, I wonder if I might comment on Mr. Engelberg's suggestion before he goes and confers.

He suggested that somehow the rush to get May 1st rates should control the decision.

MR. VLAHOS:  No, no, Mr. Shepherd, it was my question.  Let him give me the answer, and then we will take it from there, please.

[Mr. Engelberg confers with client]

MR. VLAHOS:  Mr. Engelberg.

MR. ENGELBERG:  I am advised if we get a decision before mid April, we would be able to implement the rates.

MR. VLAHOS:  Okay.  So that gives us two-and-something weeks.  You said mid April.  So I thought that it doesn't have to be May 1st, the billing itself?

I mean, there are billing cycles.  I suspect the company would wait a little longer.  In any event, let's go with the middle of April.  So that gives us two-and-some weeks, say two-and-a-half weeks.  So if we finish the evidentiary portion tomorrow, the normal process would take at least three weeks, so that would put us at the end of April.


Are you willing to forego argument-in-chief or to argue orally tomorrow?

MR. ENGELBERG:  Yes, we would be, or if the Board prefers shorter time lines for all three, argument-in-chief, response by intervenors and reply by Hydro One, whatever works better.

MR. VLAHOS:  Well, are you prepared to argue orally tomorrow?

MR. ENGELBERG:  Yes, we are.

MR. VLAHOS:  Okay.  Then we can accommodate the intervenors by having written arguments by certain dates, and Staff can work out those dates, and then you can have written reply argument.  Would that would work?

MR. ENGELBERG:  That would work.

MR. VLAHOS:  Hopefully we can accommodate all of those things by mid April.

MR. ENGELBERG:  Thank you.

MR. VLAHOS:  But then there is the decision itself, so that's what I am suggesting, that it does not -- even if the decision is later than May 1st, then it all depends on your billing cycles and -- your advisor wants to say something to you there.

MR. ENGELBERG:  I am told, with our many different rates throughout the province, we really need that couple of weeks and that that time of the billing cycles was built into the response that was given.

MR. VLAHOS:  Okay.  I mean, in all likelihood, you are not going to get a decision in time, you know, prior to May 1st.  Therefore, that would -- I guess opens the question of whether the Board should declare the rates interim, or not.  The rates are not interim right now, are they?

MR. ENGELBERG:  No, they are not interim.

MR. VLAHOS:  So is this part of the application?  I can't recall.  Mr. Shepherd, we went through this the last time in another --

MR. SHEPHERD:  Schools are not opposed to declaring the rates interim.

MR. VLAHOS:  Is anybody opposed if the Board, on its own motion, declares the rates interim for May 1st, 2009?


There being no response -- all right.  So the Board does declare the rates interim as of May 1st, 2009.

MR. ENGELBERG:  Thank you, Mr. Chair.

MR. VLAHOS:  We don't need to follow that with an order.  It is in the transcript.

Then Staff, I guess, can work out the specific dates by the end of the day tomorrow, and then --

MR. MILLAR:  Yes, we will do our best.

MR. VLAHOS:  Then we can put them on the record.

So I have then -- Mr. Shepherd, are you next?
Cross-Examination by Mr. Shepherd:

MR. SHEPHERD:  Indeed.  I wonder if I can start -- I will start with the calculations, because that's the driest part of this, and then we will get to more fun stuff.  I wonder if you can turn to Exhibit B2, tab 1, schedule 2.  B2-1-2, at page 6 of 8, which is appendix D.  This is your calculation of the threshold.  Do you have that?

So I want to -- it's been a long time since I studied algebra, so I want to make sure I understand first the percentage number.  This percentage number 153.10, when I did the math from your formula, I got 153.18.  Is that just rounding during the calculation, or is there actually a mistake?

MR. DUMKA:  It must be rounding in the calculation, because everything we input into this model is as per what Board Staff had laid out.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Fine.  Have you redone this with the 1.18 percent price cap index?

MR. DUMKA:  Yes.  Just hold on a moment, please.  Yes, I have those figures in front of me.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Is that filed in the evidence?

MR. DUMKA:  No.  We have not updated our application.  Our understanding going in, as part of issuance of the decision, the Board will instruct us to recalculate the threshold using the final GDP figure.

MR. SHEPHERD:  You don't mind filing your revised calculation as an undertaking?  It makes a big difference.  That's why I'm asking.

MR. ENGELBERG:  Sorry, can you repeat the question?

MR. SHEPHERD:  There is a revised calculation with 1.18 percent as the price cap index.  I believe the difference in the threshold is about $7.7 million, and, therefore, we would like to see whether you could file that calculation on the record as an undertaking.

MR. ENGELBERG:  My understanding is that the Board does that.  Am I incorrect in saying that, Mr. Millar?

MR. MILLAR:  Mr. Chair, I believe the model is the Board's, but the utilities do the calculation.  I could be wrong on that.  I think we do the calculation, as well.

MR. SHEPHERD:  It's true, isn't it, that you have done this already?  You have this data?

MR. DUMKA:  No.

MR. ENGELBERG:  My understanding is that we have not, and that we were of the understanding that the Board would be doing that.

MR. SHEPHERD:  The witness just told me that he has the number in front of him.  Why is this a problem, to file it?

MR. DUMKA:  We're not updating our application at this point in time.  I think this is more of - correct me if I'm wrong - a conceptual discussion, and when we get the decision from the Board and are directed to come back with a draft rate order, we will reflect everything that's in the direction that we receive, including change to the GDP.  If perchance there's an Ontario budget issue that changes some other parameters, at that point in time, the applicant is ready to --

MR. VLAHOS:  Sorry, Mr. Shepherd.  I'm sorry, I have been asleep on the switch here.

Can you just go back and tell me:  What are you asking now, in reference to what document?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Exhibit B2-1-2, appendix D, which is page 6 of 8, is the calculation of the threshold.

MR. VLAHOS:  Of the threshold, okay.

MR. SHEPHERD:  It assumes a price cap index of 0.98.  If you use the correct 1.18 percent, then the threshold increases by about $7.7 million, and I can do this on the record, just get the numbers -- he has them there.


MR. VLAHOS:  Thank you for that.  I understand that.


I guess I am not aware that the Board would actually do that calculation.  I thought this was the company's calculation.  The specific threshold, the dollar amount of the threshold, it is not the Board's calculation.  Does anybody wish to correct me on this?


I mean you have done this calculation as part of your application, right, based on the assumption of the 0.98.


MR. DUMKA:  That's correct.


MR. VLAHOS:  So now if you were to insert to replace the 0.98 with some other figure, you've got the spreadsheet.  So any problem producing that?


MR. ENGELBERG:  I'm sorry. I understood the question to be, had you done it with the new calculation already, with the 1.18.


MR. VLAHOS:  Okay, what was the answer to that?  The answer was no, you have not done it.

MR. DUMKA:  I have ballparked it but --

MR. VLAHOS:  Would that do it, Mr. Shepherd?

MR. SHEPHERD:  You know, Mr. Chairman, I did it manually in ten minutes at the lunch break, so I’m quite sure they have it.  But I can ask the question.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  I actually understood the witness to say he had the numbers in front of him.  Is that correct?


MR. ENGELBERG:  I understood -- I will let him answer, but I understood him to say he had the numbers in front of him, the original as filed percentage.  No?


MR. DUMKA:  I have an estimate.  I am looking for direction, in terms of --

MR. VLAHOS:  Why don't you give us the estimate and Mr. Shepherd, would you take the estimate to see if it is close to yours.  Then we can move on.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  I think the witness’ concern was he did not want to be seen to be updating the calculation, and with that caveat there’s no difficulty.

MR. ENGELBERG:  Thank you, Mr. Sommerville.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Sorry, you want me to -- so the first number then is the percentage 153.10, the new percentage is 157.73; is that right?


MR. DUMKA:  I have it in the range of about 157.6.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And the threshold which was 287.056 is now 295.747 and change.


MR. DUMKA:  295.59 million.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And the difference is about -- so you've got a difference of about 7.4 million, increase in the threshold.


MR. DUMKA:  The -- yes, in that range.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And am I right in understanding that that decreases the revenue requirement impact by about $900,000?


MR. DUMKA:  I have it ballparked at a million dollars, so we're in the range.


MR. SHEPHERD:  At a million.  So instead of the 21.3 you asked for, it would be about 20.3 or so.

MR. DUMKA:  About 20.3.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Then the second on the calculation is, this calculation shows -- I am looking at the line 2008 rebasing, okay, the column, you see that?


MR. DUMKA:  Sorry, which --

MR. SHEPHERD:  Still on about, B2.1.2, appendix D --

MR. DUMKA:  Sorry, page 6?


MR. SHEPHERD:  This is the B2.1, threshold test, right.

MR. DUMKA:  Sorry, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  That column, 2008 rebasing, the number that is listed as J, a capricious label, is $4.247 billion.  Is that your approved rate base for 2008?


MR. DUMKA:  That's correct.  If you go to the appendix A of the very same exhibit, you will see about a third of the way down there is, that the cell S --

MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.


MR. DUMKA:  That matches our, the draft rate order we submitted in mid-January with a 0681 application.


MR. SHEPHERD:  I probably should know this, but your closing fixed assets from 2007 and your opening fixed assets from 2008 are about 20 million difference.  Should I know what that is?  Normally they're the same; right?


MR. DUMKA:  No.  I think where things are slightly out of sync is what we have in 2008 is what lines up with what became the approved rate order for the 0681 application.


So this, what you see here, the opening balance matches what is in the approved rate order for the 0681 application.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So the opening balance in the 2008 rebasing application was different from the closing balance in 2007?


MR. DUMKA:  It was slightly different, that's correct.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Why?


MR. DUMKA:  What we're asked to provide here for trending purposes is the actuals.  And what we're asked to provide in 2008 is what matches the approved test year, in the 0681 application.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Your actuals in 2007 were 20 million lower than your expected spend.


MR. DUMKA:  There was a slight discrepancy, that's right.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Then the other question on that column is, you have figures under depreciation for retirements and disposals.  You have retirements and disposals every year; right?


MR. DUMKA:  That's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  What happens is you take something out of service and it hasn't yet been fully depreciated; right?


MR. DUMKA:  That's correct.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So that is added to your depreciation for the year?


MR. DUMKA:  It's taken into account, yes, in terms of the calculation.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So your depreciation number in the 2008 case, was it 187.5?  Or was it 230.86?


MR. DUMKA:  No.  Actually, if we're talking the pure depreciation, it is 187.5.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, the re --

MR. DUMKA:  The retirements land on a different line, if you will, because what that does is it adjusts the, in effect, the rate base in terms of the retirements.  So the 187.5 is, indeed, the depreciation as we calculated it for the approved test year.


MR. SHEPHERD:  How do you recover the 50 million of retirements from ratepayers?


MR. DUMKA:  What we, in effect, do going through the calculation, we land at a different closing depreciation as a result of that.  It gets netted out.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Help me understand that.

MR. DUMKA:  It gets netted out.  The assets are retired.  So if we follow through the arithmetic, in the 2008, for example, the 2008 rebasing, we start at the opening balance for accumulated depreciation of 2.289 billion.  We take out the 187.5.  We've got the depreciation through the year.  And we go through to land on the closing depreciation of 2.426.


MR. SHEPHERD:  When you take something out of service, you have to reduce the asset value; right?  What's the opposing entry?


MR. DUMKA:  You have to look above.  We're focussing here on depreciation.  You will see it netted out of the gross fixed assets in the series of rows right above that.


If I can point you to average net fixed assets, you will see the calculations going through there.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Which is usually the same as the retirements figure.

MR. DUMKA:  That's right.  You will see the exact same figure, the 50.8 million for capital retirements in both the calculation of the accumulated depreciation closing, and the gross fixed assets closing.  So it is netted out.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So then that $50.8 million in 2008, you never recover that from the ratepayers?


MR. DUMKA:  No.  It's not there in terms of the gross fixed assets netted out.  It is retired.  Yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Doesn't that reduce your ROE?


MR. DUMKA:  It reduces our asset base for the year.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, no, you still spent the money.  You still spent the money.


MR. DUMKA:  Yes.  What we get into is, that calculation results in the average gross fixed assets changing.  So it is there at the starting point.  The gross fixed assets opening, the $6.118 billion.  We go through and land on grossed fixed assets closing which has the retirement taken out.  Our rate base is the average of the opening and the closing.


So, in effect, it has a midyear calculation on the approved rate base for 2008.

MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  I am not sure I am 100 percent clear, but I'm going to take your word for it at this point.

Now, in 2009, you haven't populated it in the normal way.  You just populated it with the spending; right?

In fact, in the real world, you're going to have an opening balance and you're going to have work in process at the beginning, work in process at the end and all of that stuff, all the same things; right?

MR. DUMKA:  If we were doing a cost-of-service application, if that's what you mean by "normal world", you're correct.

However, this is a 3GIRM application.  In our discussions with Board Staff, it was indicated not just to us, to all LDCs in terms of the information provided, it was up to the LDC whether they put in those figures, because those figures have no impact on the calculations that the Board model lands on for 2009.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I understand that.  I'm not suggesting you are doing something wrong.  You're following the model.  I get that.

But if you look at line H, that's basically your rate base before working capital; right?

MR. DUMKA:  Hmm-hmm, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And we can't just add to that $230 million to get your rate base for 2009, can we?

MR. DUMKA:  Excuse me, sir, but you're going down the cost-of-service path.  This isn't a cost-of-service application.

I am not here to discuss a cost-of-service application.  If you have some questions with regards to how we land on the incremental revenue requirement for incremental capital spent, I can answer those questions.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Sir, your colleague Mr. Poray in his direct evidence made a point of saying the rate base goes up; that's why you have to ask for the capital module.

I am asking:  Is this misleading to add the two together to get your rate base?  I think the answer is yes.  It is in your favour.  Why would you object?

MR. DUMKA:  No, sir.  I disagree with you, in terms of presenting this in the context of a 3rd generation IRM application.

What Mr. Poray was providing was an illustration in terms of how, yes, indeed, our rate base does change in 2009.  We are not here making an application for our total rate base in 2009 as it would end if this was a cost-of-service application.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Let me go at this a different way.

The increase in your rate base as a result of this spending, assuming the half-year model is -- half-year rule applies to all of it, which it doesn't; right?

MR. DUMKA:  That's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  In fact, it's true that generally most of it is -- uses an average of monthly averages approach, because the in-service dates can be identified for most of the big stuff?  Isn't that true?

MR. DUMKA:  I wouldn't say monthly in terms of how the Board lands on an approved rate base in a cost-of-service application.

Actually, mid year, the half-year rule is used for everything regardless of the size.  That's my understanding.  I am here to be corrected.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, Mr. Van Dusen said earlier that for things you know the in-service date, you don't use the half-year rule.  In fact, you use the month of in-service; isn't that right?

MR. DUMKA:  My understanding -- and I could be incorrect.  My understanding, when we go through a calculation for rate base, if this is a cost-of-service application we use the midyear rule.  That's what we're instructed to use.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, then I am confused.  Mr. Van Dusen, is that what you meant earlier?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  I think I was talking about in-service dates and the associated depreciation impacts.  So I was talking about, for most of the distribution-related works, it is program-related work.  You would use the midyear rule.  To the extent that there were large projects in either transmission or distribution and you had specific in-service dates, you would use that in-service date for the purposes of the calculation.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So -- but that's only for the purpose of calculating depreciation, not for the purpose of calculating rate base; is that right?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Just one second.

[Witness panel confers]

MR. DUMKA:  If I could, my understanding -- I think we crossed paths in terms of understanding.

When Mr. Van Dusen was being cross-examined this morning by Mr. Thompson, this was in the context of a budget or business plan, and we would go through a finer level of calculation.

However, in terms of my understanding of how the OEB lands on rate base and depreciation in a test year, it's based on the midyear rule.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Mr. Van Dusen, do you agree?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes, I agree.  That's my understanding.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Thank you.

So that simplifies this, actually.  So the impact of your $460.8 million of spending proposed for the 2009 rate is to increase your rate base by $230.4 million on a cost-of-service basis; is that right?

MR. DUMKA:  No.  I can't -- well, if we're looking at this capital in and of itself, perhaps.  But this is, again, under a cost-of-service application, which we're not doing here.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, I am asking the question.  What's the impact of that spending on your rate base?  It's $230 million; right?

MR. DUMKA:  If we were doing a cost-of-service application, it would be in that range, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  When you come in for 2010, you're going to come in on a cost-of-service basis.  You're going to have to do a continuity of your rate base from 2008 to 2010.  The amount the rate base will increase as a result of that $461 million of spending will be $230.4 million; right?

MR. DUMKA:  I believe so.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.

And so that increase is not much more than the depreciation amount; right?

MR. DUMKA:  No.  In fact, depending upon where you're going, I'm not absolutely certain, to be honest with you, sir.

If we are at a cost-of-service application, the depreciation would be in the range of $187 million.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Exactly.  So of the 230, 187.5 would be funded by the depreciation; right?

MR. DUMKA:  Well, something else that would happen if this was a cost-of-service application, sir, we would have the full-year impact of the capital that we added in 2008, and that's what's missing in this calculation.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Exactly, okay.  This is good.

So that full-year impact, in fact, is 190.5 million; is that right?

MR. DUMKA:  Excuse me, sir?

MR. SHEPHERD:  $180.5 million is the difference between closing -- no, it's not, because you're going to take the -- sorry, it's less than that.  The full-year impact would be about $120 million; is that right?

MR. DUMKA:  Of what, sir?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, you have to take the difference between closing and average fixed assets and the difference between closing and average accumulated depreciation; right?  That will be the difference between rate base and ending rate -- average rate base and ending rate base; correct?

MR. DUMKA:  I believe it would be in that range.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So $120 million, roughly?

MR. DUMKA:  Subject to check.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So what I am trying to get at here - and I realize I'm doing it in maybe an obtuse way, but my mind works that way - is to fund on a one-year basis -- and you emphasized many times this is a one-year application.  It is not a multi-year application.

To fund that $461 million of spending by itself on a one-year basis, you only need $230 million because of the half-year rule.

And the other thing you need to fund - correct me if I'm wrong - is the impact of going from rate base in 2008 to full-year impact of the 2008 spending.  That needs to be funded too, right?  If you are doing cost-of-service, that would be the additional thing you would need to fund?

MR. DUMKA:  If this was a cost-of-service application.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.

You're not asking to fund that?  Okay.

MR. DUMKA:  We are following the Board's 3rd generation IRM model.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Let me deal with that for a second, because what was actually number 5 on my list, but, okay, I will deal with that now.

As I understand what you're saying in your application -- and you've said it a number of times today -- you just want what the model allows you.  You don't want to have a substantive discussion about whether the model is correctly identifying your need or not.  You don't want to have a substantive discussion about whether it would be better if it approached it a different way.  That's not on the table.  Your evidence is and I think what you're saying is you're just following the rules, you want the number the rules pump out; is that right?


MR. ENGELBERG:  I think that's a little bit unfair.  I think Mr. Shepherd is putting some words into the mouth of the witness.


I don't think the witness ever said that he didn't care what amount it arrives at or what it results in.


MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  Now, just before I leave the numbers -- because I know if has really fascinating to everybody in the room -- can you go to page 8 of 8.


Now, this is the calculation of the revenue requirement impact of the excess capital; right?


MR. DUMKA:  Are you referring to the incremental capital, sir?


MR. SHEPHERD:  Incremental capital, yes.

MR. DUMKA:  Yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And you've already said that the 1.18 percent number probably reduces this number by about a million dollars, but leave that aside for a second.  That's a separate calculation.


Mr. Thompson asked you some questions about the cost of capital that is built into this.  This is the Board's model.  You didn't insist:  We want our old cost of capital; right?  You used the model as it was.


MR. DUMKA:  My understanding of a 3rd generation IRM model is it's based on the approved rates, everything that is in there for the -- from the last rebasing.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Your actual cost of capital for new spending is not your 2008 cost of capital.  It is your current cost of capital; right?


MR. DUMKA:  Excuse me?  Could you repeat that, please.

MR. SHEPHERD:  When you're spending money in 2009, your cost of capital for that spending is 2009 capital costs -- cost of capital, not 2008; right?  In the real world.


MR. DUMKA:  Sir, I think where you're going is a deviation from the 3rd generation IRM model.  We are not here asking for a change, for example, in our OM&A spend or whatever else, and the assumptions, the parameters behind that, be it escalation or whatever else.


And where you are going with your question, I believe, is out of the context of this 3rd generation IRM model that the OEB has laid out.


MR. SHEPHERD:  All I am trying to get at is this, and I don't mean to belabour the point, Mr. Thompson has already made the point.  Am I correct that the difference between this year's cost of capital applied to these numbers and last year's is about $760,000?


MR. DUMKA:  I don't know what it is, sir.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Can you undertake to calculate it?


MR. ENGELBERG:  I would suggest that Mr. Shepherd make the calculation and perhaps put it to the witness.  Hydro One is not applying for some sort of hybrid use by taking the model and then adjusting it during the year, in terms of percentages as the circumstances are changing.


Hydro One is trying to work with the model put forward by the Board.  Perhaps Mr. Shepherd's point is that if we were here doing a cost-of-service application, that the inputs and the results might be different.  And if that's the point that is being sought to be made, Hydro One would agree to that.


MR. VLAHOS:  Mr. Shepherd, that's a fair point.  It's not the application.  Obviously you want to argue a different way.  So it's a question of whether we should put the company through the effort of providing that number or perhaps you can just ask them whether the 760,000 is in the area of reasonableness.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Maybe that is the best way to do it.  Does that sound about right to you 760?  700 to 800?


MR. DUMKA:  I haven't done the calculation, so I don't know.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Just so we are clear about what the calculation would be, it is 8.01 percent instead of 8.57 percent.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And 1.33 percent instead of 4.77.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  So we can all add them up.

MR. SHEPHERD:  We will put it in our argument.  I was trying to make it easier.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  That's fine.

DR. PORAY:  Mr. Shepherd, could I just -- there was a reference you made to multi-year under the 3rd generation IRM model.


I would just like to, just to clarify, that the concept, the whole plan is to use a 3rd generation IRM methodology or mechanism over a three-year period.  But each utility under that plan has to file annually.  And each utility will make a determination whether, in fact, to file for a capital module on an annual basis, or not.  They're not filing multi-year information.  I just wanted to clarify that.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, and in fact I wasn't going to deal with this until later but let me just ask the short question now.


Your spending will always be above the threshold, right?  Likely?

DR. PORAY:  Based on our current projections and understanding of the things that we have to do, our capital program is high and the capital investments will be high, yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So you would expect, then, that except in years where you come in for cost-of-service, every other year in IRM you will qualify to seek a capital module.  I'm not saying you will take it, I'm saying you will qualify for it.

DR. PORAY:  We would examine the situation to determine what the needs of the company are.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Is it correct that you expect that you will qualify every IRM year?


DR. PORAY:  I wouldn't like to say that at this point in time, but we would examine the situation, knowing that we have the flexibility to do so.


MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  Let me turn to Exhibit K.10.  You might have K1.9 out at the same time.


These questions would you for you, Mr. Van Dusen, about these numbers?  Who should I address them too?  Okay, thanks.


So as I understand your process, what happens is the various divisions say:  Here's what we need.  And on K1.9 you have a line Sunnybrook 1.  That's where -- that's your starting point for this is what everybody wants; right?


MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes, with a bit of a subtlety to it.


The initial information about what the asset need levels are come from the asset management organization.  So they are taking –- it’s the planners who are taking a look.  So it is the planners, not the construction people saying this is what we need to do.  It is the planners looking at the system, the needs and what has to be done, the various regulations and saying this is the work that we’re putting forward as our plan initially.

MR. SHEPHERD:  They’re not doing that in isolation, though.  The line divisions are interacting with them telling them this is what we need to do this year.

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes, it's a very interactive process, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Exactly.  So you have this Sunnybrook 1 meeting.  As a result of that meeting -- does this 689, is this the starting point of that discussion?  Or is this the end point of that discussion?


MR. VAN DUSEN:  The 689 was the starting point of the discussion.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So then during that meeting, you cut some things back and the result is you get to 659; right?


MR. VAN DUSEN:  That's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Then you have a second session to try to prioritize and figure out what you really need to do,  and that comes down to 616; is that right?


MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes, sir.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Now, so first, in the column on K1.9 in the column shared services and other capital, is the number for smart meters at every level 166.7?


MR. VAN DUSEN:  Subject to check, I will say yes, I believe that's the case.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  None of these numbers except the as-filed numbers have the PCB number.


MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes, that's correct.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So what happened is, then,
you -- in the space of, what, a few weeks or a few months, you went from 689 to 616, and there were specific things you cut out of your plans in the various areas; right?


MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes, sir.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So for example in shared services and other capital you cut out $41 million; is that right?


MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And similarly in sustaining you cut out $10 million although then you added back the PCB program.


MR. VAN DUSEN:  Correct.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Right, okay.


So let me just -- what I wonder if you could do is, and I hope you have this information already, it's not too much trouble -- is on K1.10, can you add a column to the left, presumably, that has the numbers for asset needs Sunnybrook 1, before you did the cut backs.  This is something you must have somewhere; is that right?

MR. ENGELBERG:  I would like to ask what the purpose of going back and redoing the evidence to add a column to it would be.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, I guess the K1.9 tells us about the cutbacks you made to your programs.  So presumably the cutbacks are relevant; otherwise, it wouldn't be in here.  I am asking for more detail on those cutbacks, because one of the issues here is:  Do you have to spend this much money?  So what you cut and what you didn't cut is relevant to this Board.

MR. ENGELBERG:  I don't have a problem with Mr. Shepherd's asking as to how Hydro One arrived at the number that ended up at the bottom of the exhibit, but I don't think it would be fair to require the witness to go back and add a column to evidence, evidence which was not required to be part of the filing.

Perhaps Mr. Shepherd could simply ask questions about what kinds of items resulted in a reduction from the 689 to the 659 and 616.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Mr. Chairman, this is going to be a theme throughout this.  We have hundreds of refusals in our IR responses where they just simply said, No, we're not going to give you that information, the filing requirements don't require it.

If all they had to give the Board in this context for a $464 million capital budget, if all they had to give you was what was in the minimum filing requirements, we wouldn't have this hearing today.  This hearing is to get more information so the Board can make an informed decision.

So for Mr. Engelberg to argue, no, if it's not in the minimum filing requirements, we don't have give it to you, is not useful.

The simplest way of getting at this information is -- they will know what all of these numbers are.  There's probably a chart with them already on it in their binders.  All I'm asking is they just file it, and then I don't have to waste time going through it line by line.

MR. VLAHOS:  Mr. Engelberg?

MR. ENGELBERG:  Perhaps this would be a good time to have a bit of a discussion about that.

Hydro One is not taking the position that Mr. Shepherd seems to be stating that it is, but, as the Board itself has pointed out, 3rd generation IRM does involve, to some significant degree, a formulaic, mechanistic module.  That's not to say that the evidence that Hydro One puts forward as a result of it or that any LDC puts forward in 3rd generation IRM can't be tested.

But, in our respectful submission, it does mean that the filing of significant additional evidence and information that don't form a part of the module don't (sic) have to be done, and that for the Board to reach a conclusion that such additional filing of information would not need to be done does not mean that the Board and intervenors don't have an opportunity to test the applicant's evidence.

Hydro One has filed a substantial amount of evidence and is here, as the witness panel stated, to be able to defend its application, but it is not a cost-of-service application and there must be some difference, some significance, when there is a formulaic, mechanistic module, as to whether the filing requirements and the volume of information and answers that need to be provided are the same as they would be for a cost-of-service.

MR. VLAHOS:  Mr. Engelberg, I guess the issue here is that you have a proposal -- the company has a proposal that requires $460.8 million for 2009.  This is the gross amount minus the threshold.

Are you suggesting that there is appropriate evidence in the filing plus appropriate responses to interrogatories for people to test the reasonableness of that amount, of that quantum?

MR. ENGELBERG:  Yes.  In our submission, there is; furthermore, that the witness panel is here, hasn't finished yet, is here to be able to answer questions from Mr. Shepherd and other intervenors on what makes up the $460.8 million.

MR. VLAHOS:  Okay.  With that, Mr. Shepherd, then could you just remind us exactly what you need and why you would need it?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.  And, actually, I'm sort of using this as a way to get to the crux of the problem here, because we're going to have it all day today and all day tomorrow.  We might as well get at it.  Hydro One appears to believe that the capital module is supposed to be formulaic and mechanistic.

I don't think the Board told them that.  I don't think the Board has told anybody that.  I think in fact what the Board's told everybody is the IRM is formulaic and mechanistic.  The capital module is a matter of substance, and you have to file evidence supporting what you are asking for.  The onus is on the applicant to do so.

There is nothing formulaic or mechanistic about it, except the calculation of the threshold.

MR. VLAHOS:  Okay.  This is what I am trying to understand now.  In what way are you suggesting that the company believes that it is just mechanistic, only, and not substantive?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Mr. Engelberg just said it.  I actually wrote it down.

MR. VLAHOS:  Maybe I could ask Mr. Engelberg.  What do you mean by should be only mechanistic?

MR. ENGELBERG:  Well, first of all, let me state, so that we don't talk at cross purposes, that in stating that it is formulaic and mechanistic, Hydro One's submission is that that applies to the entire 3rd generation IRM module and not simply the calculation of the price cap index.


But having said that, I would like to say that by saying that, Hydro One is not saying that the information for the incremental capital module and the calculations that result from that cannot be tested by intervenors.  In fact, they can.

If Hydro One were saying what Mr. Shepherd seems to be saying that Hydro One is saying, namely that -- saying that the procedure is formulaic and mechanistic, Hydro One would not have filed binders of the thickness that Hydro One filed.

Hydro One has filed the information and is here to defend the $460.8 million of capital, but that does not mean that we are into a full cost-of-service application for everything to do with the application of the incremental capital module.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I wonder if I could quote something to the Board.  I am looking at page 6 of appendix B of the supplemental report of the Board dated September 17th, 2008.

Here is what the Board - and I believe this was actually members of this Panel who wrote this - said:
"The Board expects that applications requesting relief for incremental cap-ex during the IR plan term will be accompanied by comprehensive evidence to support the claimed need and include the following..."

And it goes on to list various aspects of justification and support that are, in our submission, not just equivalent to cost-of-service.  Because this is an exceptional remedy, the Board is giving this on an exception basis.

In our submission, the evidence justifying the spending is not just, Here's what we plan to spend, here is why it is prudent.  It is also, And here's why it is exceptional.  So it is more than cost-of-service.

And so that is, in our view, the problem we are facing right now and will throughout my cross, I think.

MR. ENGELBERG:  Well, if I may respond, that is the crux of the dispute.

Hydro One has no problem, of course, with the words in the Board's September 17th report, but, in Hydro One's submission, these requirements of the Board, put in bullet form, are what Hydro One has done in the application, and the information that Hydro One has provided by way of response to interrogatories, and the information that the witnesses are here to respond to.

So it is -- I guess it is a question of interpretation as to whether Hydro One's responses and justification are in line with what the Board said it required.

Hydro One believes that it is, and my friend believes that it is not.

MR. VLAHOS:  Mr. Shepherd, just going back to K1.10, then, where you're asking for another column to be produced, that's the Sunnybrook 1, I guess, is it?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.

MR. VLAHOS:  So can you assist the Board as to what would be the benefit -- maybe benefit to you in terms of cross-examination, but ultimately what would be the benefit to the Board?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

MR. VLAHOS:  I don't want you to give away your argument, but...

MR. SHEPHERD:  No, no.  If Hydro One doesn't know my argument by now... One of the issues is going to be:  Do they need to spend this much money?  Because that's one of the obligations they have under the capital module, is to show the need.


They have a minimum level that they have identified.  They have an applied-for level, but they also have a level that they initially thought they needed.


So determining what they decided they should not ask for, what they decided they should ask for as compared to what their minimum requirement was will help the Board understand how they prioritized and how much they really needed, because clearly there are levels of need here.  They admit it.


So what we are trying to determine is, at what level of need is this $461 million.  If that would not assist the Board, then I don't need to pursue it.  It seems to me that it would be useful.


MR. VLAHOS:  Just before I turn to my colleagues here.  So that's one undertaking that you are seeking.  Are there any others?


MR. SHEPHERD:  There are quite a number of refusals of past information to show trends and things like that.  I don't know whether I will be able to get those today or whether I will be able to get them -- I will have to ask for undertakings but those are different types of information.


They deal with the question:  Is 2009 in some way special, different?


MR. VLAHOS:  Just a minute.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Mr. Poray wants to...

DR. PORAY:  Mr. Chairman and the Panel, I think it has always been Hydro One's understanding that in order to justify the triggering of the capital adjustment module, we would have to provide sufficient information as to the capital plan.


But it was never our understanding that we would have to provide information that is more than we would in a cost-of-service proceeding, because otherwise what would be the advantage in fact with proceeding with a 3rd generation IRM proceeding?  We might as well stick with going cost-of-service every year.


We are supportive of the 3rd generation IRM model because we feel it does streamline the process.


We feel that the information that we have provided here in support of our capital adjustment module is at a level which should enable the Board to make decisions.  Thank you.


MR. VLAHOS:  Thank you, Dr. Poray.


[Board Panel confers]

MR. VLAHOS:  Mr. Dumka, can you tell us whether you have that information with you today.  Or sorry, who should I be asking?  Mr. Van Dusen.


MR. VAN DUSEN:  Sir, I'm sorry.  I do not have that information with me today.


MR. VLAHOS:  How soon can you get it?


MR. VAN DUSEN:  I could get it relatively quickly.  It is part of our overall planning process to have that information.


MR. VLAHOS:  Okay.  It is the Panel's wish that the information, a direction for that information will be provided.  If you can do that as soon as possible it would be appreciated.


Mr. Shepherd, the panel is, you know, was prepared to direct the company to submit this information.  Going forward, I guess we will have to do it on a case-by-case basis.


MR. SHEPHERD:  I’m very conscious –-


MR. VLAHOS:  We're a little concerned that some of those things have not been -- I guess they were asked for but not answered, but here we are without a motion and I don't know where that would take us.


MR. SHEPHERD:  I guess part of what I'm doing, Mr. Chairman, and that is no surprise either, I think is one of our arguments, in final argument, will be that they had the onus to make their case and they didn't.  So asking them to give information that is necessary for their case is a good way of helping that argument.


MR. VLAHOS:  That's fine.


MR. MILLAR:  Mr. Chairman, with your permission, we will give that an Undertaking J1.1.  Since it has actually been quite a while since we actually mentioned what the undertaking is, Mr. Shepherd, can you please repeat it so there is no misunderstanding?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Sure.  Please file a new version of K1.10 with a new column to the left with the equivalent figures for the asset needs Sunnybrook 1 level.


MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes, we can.  Sorry, just a minor matter.  Mr. Shepherd, I was wondering if you could speak up.  I am old and having a hard time hearing you.

UNDERTAKING NO. K1.10:  To file a new version of K1.10 with a new column to the left with the equivalent figures for the asset needs Sunnybrook 1 level

MR. SHEPHERD:  Is that --

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  What was that?


MR. SHEPHERD:  Is that a plea, Mr. Van Dusen?


MR. VAN DUSEN:  It's a plea for loudness.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Let me then turn to rate impacts.  I only have a few questions on this, but I just want to make sure I understand them.


Your evidence is that in this application the price cap plus smart meters equals 2.28 percent rate increase; right?


DR. PORAY:  That's correct.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And the capital module is 2.1 percent; right?


DR. PORAY:  I believe that's of the order, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Four percent in your application is actually rounded, it is really  4.38 percent; is that correct?

DR. PORAY:  Something like that, yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  I wonder if you can turn to Exhibit KX1.6.  Now, I am not going to ask you about profit figures in this discussion.  But I am going to ask you about cumulative rate impacts.


So before I ask those questions, since these are confidential documents, is it necessary to go in camera if I am asking about cumulative expected rate increases in the future?


DR. PORAY:  I believe that is the case, yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Then I am happy to go in camera, Mr. Chairman, if the company is concerned about confidentiality.


MR. ENGELBERG:  If it's forward-looking, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  It is.

MR. ENGELBERG:  Yes, that's correct.


MR. VLAHOS:  There is no other way of getting that information, Mr. Shepherd?


MR. SHEPHERD:  It's actually in there.

MR. VLAHOS:  I just want to make sure --

MR. SHEPHERD:  It is data from their spreadsheets.

MR. VLAHOS:  It is in the confidential filings?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes, yes.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Just so that we're clear on the rationale for the confidentiality of this, Mr. Engelberg, could you explain it to me why we would have to go in camera for that, for cumulative rate increases arising from your capital plans?

MR. ENGELBERG:  As I understood Mr. Shepherd to say, it would be forward-looking, cumulative rate impacts, and insofar as it is forward-looking, this affects the company's reporting requirements, its prospects, the value of its --

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Every forward test year application is a projection of rate impacts.  That's not confidential.

MR. ENGELBERG:  That's correct.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  So what's the difference?

MR. SHEPHERD:  This goes beyond 2009.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  To anticipated rate applications in subsequent years?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes, yes.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  This would represent the company's plan for rate increases in subsequent years after 2009, other than through a formulaic process?

MR. SHEPHERD:  That's correct.

MR. QUESNELLE:  If we are not speaking to the future costs, then how would profits be derived from that?

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  What is the meaning of anything like that, because those numbers are dependent upon findings by this Board as to what the rates are ultimately going to be?

I mean, they're of such minor credibility -- I don't mean that in a pejorative sense, but they're of such minor credibility that I can't see why they would have to be confidential.  I mean, if everyone is content to treat them that way, I guess it is all right, but it just seems an inept way of dealing with it.

MR. ENGELBERG:  It may be partly the very fact that --

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  I sense a tone that everything that is forward-looking is suddenly confidential.  I think that is a proposition that needs a little more work, frankly.

MR. ENGELBERG:  I think everyone seems to be satisfied that if it's one year within the context of a rate application, that's okay.  But I would agree with Mr. Shepherd that if we are talking here about multiple years, that there is a problem, and the very fact that the information itself, as you pointed out, Mr. Sommerville, may be unreliable, perhaps make it even more dangerous.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Isn't that the purpose of this disclaimer that sits at the beginning of this document, to say, This contains forward-looking material but don't rely upon it?  Isn't that the same disclaimer that every observer of the stock markets or bond ratings or anything else -- isn't that the same kind of disclaimer that they put on their material to displace precisely the concern that you have?

MR. ENGELBERG:  That's partly the case, but my understanding is that it is not just the non-reliance of it, but the question of whether it should be put forward and released at all.

MR. VLAHOS:  So the issue is this document is not available -- these documents that have been filed confidentially are not available to the public out there?

MR. ENGELBERG:  That's my understanding.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Can I make a suggestion, Mr. Chairman?

MR. VLAHOS:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  It's probably about time for the break.  I am happy to have a discussion with Mr. Engelberg during the break and tell him what my questions are going to be and see whether he is concerned about them.  If he is not, then we can stay on the record, and, if he is, then we can deal with it then.

MR. VLAHOS:  That's fine.  We won't hesitate to go into an in camera session, but I would just try to avoid it for practical reasons, okay?

So let's have a 15-minute break.

--- Recess taken at 2:58 p.m.

--- On resuming at 3:25 p.m.

MR. VLAHOS:  Please be seated.


Mr. Shepherd.


MR. SHEPHERD:  There we go.  Thank you, Mr. Chairman.  We spoke during the break, and I think we are in general agreement that the questions I am going to ask will involve information that's fairly treated as confidential and it would be preferable if we go in camera.  I expect it will only be for five or ten minutes.


MR. VLAHOS:  Okay.


MR. ENGELBERG:  Mr. Chair, I also made some further enquiries and found out that the concerns could not be allayed by any words stating that the figures are not accurate and subject to change, because the actual requirement would be that, regardless of the reliability factor in them or lack of reliability, by releasing them here, we would have to release them to the entire financial community; and every time the numbers and the chart had to change, we would have to notify by press release the financial community as well, so that they would be in possession of the same information that was released here.  And it would really be problematic to do that.


MR. VLAHOS:  Okay.  Mr. Miller, can you just advise of the process, please.


MR. MILLAR:  Yes.  What we'll have to do is, I don't think we have to break but we may have to -- it will take a minute or two to get together.  First I would ask everyone who doesn't work for the company or Board Staff who has not signed one of the undertakings will have to leave the room.


I will speak very quickly with the gentleman in the back room to ensure that we separate the transcripts.


You of course will also have to turn off the broadcast button.  So perhaps if we could just take 60 seconds to get that.  Maybe I would ask Hydro One to just look around the room and make sure that they're not uncomfortable with any of the room being in the room.

[Laughter]


MR. SHEPHERD:  Sorry, I signed the undertaking.


MR. ENGELBERG:  Don't put it that way.


MR. MILLAR:  So if you can go off the air, Mr. Vlahos.  I think we are ready.


--- In camera session commenced at 3:28 p.m.

[Page 141, line 12 to page 153, line 28 


have been redacted]


--- In camera session ends at 3:45 p.m.

MR. VLAHOS:  Sorry, Mr. Shepherd could you start again your question, please.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Sorry.  Although this relates to the same documents, I am sure it is not confidential.  Have you changed your forecast for what you expect to be asking for as a rate increase in 2010 as a result of filing this capital module?


MR. VAN DUSEN:  I am not aware of any updated financial outlook at this point in time.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.


Let me then turn to -- it is buried in the papers here.  Let me just turn to the interrogatory responses.  Actually, let me do this a different way.


You filed in your original application, you filed 79 pages in support of your capital module; is that right?


DR. PORAY:  Subject to check.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Then you've supplemented that with answers to interrogatories; right?


DR. PORAY:  Correct.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  I am looking at the supplemental report of the Board dated September 17th, 2008, appendix B, page 6.  Appendix B is the amended filing guidelines and page 6 relates to the incremental capital module.


DR. PORAY:  Yes, we have that.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So let me -- what I just want to run through is whether your evidence contains each of these components.


So let's start with, in the preamble in the middle of the page, it refers to comprehensive evidence to support the claimed need, that's the need to spend the money, I assume.


That's contained in your 79 pages; is that right?


DR. PORAY:  That's correct.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  The analysis demonstrating the materiality threshold test has been met.  That's the calculation, the Board's model?


DR. PORAY:  The capital adjustment module, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Which you have to amend, but -- because the new number is now 295 million instead of 287, but we're still -- you still have that; right?


MR. DUMKA:  It is representative of the application, yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Still in that bullet, and you filed evidence that the amounts will have a significant influence on the operation of the distributor.


MR. DUMKA:  That's correct.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  And that is also contained in that 79 pages?


DR. PORAY:  It's part of the supporting information for our capital expenditure.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So if we want to look for that analysis, we would go to the filing and look at each individual project and in each individual project, you are going to tell us how that has a substantial influence, a significant influence, it says, on your operations.


DR. PORAY:  The information that we filed in support of our capital adjustment module is the capital plan, the sustainment, development and operations, which were obtained from our planning process.  That takes into account the risks to the company of the various projects and of doing them.  So what came out of the plan is what needs to be done.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Then the next bullet is a description of the underlying causes, first, the underlying causes of the capital expenditures.


If I understand your evidence correctly -- don't let me put words in your mouth, please -- this is a continuation of a substantial, most of it is a continuation of substantial work plans that were already started in prior years -- wood pole replacement, for example.  You are continuing a very aggressive -- I don't mean that in a negative way -- proactive, let me put it that way, approach to wood pole replacement.


So the causes are, the causes of these expenditures for the most part are, this is continuing work that you need to do; right?


MR. JUHN:  Yes.  Many of the programs that are contained in our 2009 submission were also contained in our 2008 submission.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Right.  So what I am trying to drive at is, except for the PCBs which has a new cause, right, there was a change in the rules?  So now you have this additional money you have to spend; right?


Except for that, pretty well everything else looks, to me, to have as a cause, in is part of our normal operations.  This is something we normally have to do.  Is that generally right?


MR. JUHN:  A large part of the work program, that is correct.  There are other aspects with the smart grid now and the distributed generation.  So there are other programs that are under development.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So I am looking, for example, at distributed generation.  You are actually planning to spend less than the minimum level, you say in K1.10; is that right?

MR. JUHN:  It's very close, yes, just slightly under the minimum.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I wonder if you could turn to Exhibit I, tab 8, schedule 5.  Don't let go of the filing guidelines just yet.  I wonder if you could turn to Exhibit I, tab 8, schedule 5.  This is School Energy Coalition Interrogatory No. 5, and I am looking at page 2 of 3.

Do you have that?

MR. JUHN:  Yes, I do.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So there is a line, "distribution generation connection".  That's the same distributed generation; right?

MR. JUHN:  That is correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And you were actually approved to spend 8.4 million on that in 2008, but you only spent 3.9; is that right?

MR. JUHN:  That is correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  That's because sometimes there's delays in these projects.  You can't get them done as fast as you would like?

MR. JUHN:  Well, with the distributed generation, to a large part -- well, it's a new program.  It's a new situation that we're facing with generators connecting onto our system in a number of locations.  It all depends where they connect, how much line they actually need to connect, whether they're going to share the right of way with us.


So there are a number of factors in there, and the fact that, you know, we didn't spend what was initially projected, that's because of the many unknowns.  The more recent projection factors in a number of those unknowns with a little more certainty.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Here's what I'm going for on this, is we're talking about your description of the underlying causes.  Your description of the underlying causes is that distributed generation is one of those new causes, but, in fact, what you are proposing to do is spend less than you were approved to spend last year; isn't that right?

MR. JUHN:  The updated estimate would provide that, but in the future we do see that -- those cost increasing because of the additional demand on generation connections.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, in fact, the Green Energy Act could make it a lot more; right?


MR. JUHN:  It could.

MR. SHEPHERD:  But then the Green Energy Act does is not factored into this application, is it?

MR. JUHN:  No, it isn't.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  I am just looking for new causes of things.  Like, if you have a small utility, they have to do a new transformer station every five or ten years, or whatever, and it's a big hunk of money; right?


I'm looking for things like that in your application.  Can you help me identify new causes of expenditures?  PCB I get.  Are there others of that type?  You know...

MR. JUHN:  As I mentioned, smart grid, which is also under development, and its projected -- projected budget is 6.8 million.

MR. SHEPHERD:  That's actually a pilot project; right?

MR. JUHN:  It involves a number of pilots, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So you haven't done -- for example, that's one which you haven't done a business case, because it's not supposed to be profitable.  It is supposed to be a cost centre while you learn; right?

MR. JUHN:  It is -- part of the justification for it is a learning exercise to sort through the technologies and the complications associated with it; that is correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  It is correct that the smart grid expenditure is not expected to have a positive net present value over the life of the project; is that right?

MR. JUHN:  At this particular stage, we are not in a position to say whether it is or it isn't.  It all depends.  It has a number of factors that are associated with it.  The generation connections, we have to respond or we have to adapt our system to respond to these generators that are connecting, because the system was never designed for all of this influx of generation in remote locations.

Our system is primarily radial.  It was meant to -- it was designed to supply customers.  It was not designed to tap in generation, and, as such, there are a number of complications that we have to -- that we have to sort through in order to accommodate the generation that is being proposed.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  I still have open Exhibit I, tab H, schedule 5, but I also have the -- because I am still asking about causes, so I also have the amended filing guidelines open.

On I-8-5, that chart we were referring to, there is a line "facilities and real estate".  Do you see that?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  That jumps from 3.6 million you spent last year to you are planning to spend 14.4 million this year.  Is there a new cause for that?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes.  The driver of the cost in 2009 is our need to renew our lease for head office facilities.

So this cost in 2009 is the costs associated with making out the facilities -- getting into a new lease, making all of the construction changes to the facilities, to move to the facilities and purchase some new furniture.


So there is a large incremental cost in 2009 associated with the -- our lease, which expires on January 31st, 2010.  So the work has to be done in 2009 for us to be ready for the new head office facilities.

MR. SHEPHERD:  You won't actually start using any of that until 2010; right?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  In terms of when does the lease renew, it is in 2010, but the work will be started this year, very shortly, actually.

MR. SHEPHERD:  No, I understand that.  But when you actually use it to deliver electricity, it will be starting January 2010; right?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  That is when the new lease takes effect.  People will be moving throughout the rest of the year and into next year to the new facilities as they become ready for them.

MR. SHEPHERD:  That 14.4 million is leasehold improvements and furniture?

MR. VAN DUSEN:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  I will come back to that.

Also, in this -- the bullet - I'm still on page 6 of the amended filing guidelines - it says you are required to put a description of the timing of the capital expenditures.

I take it that the only timing information you have provided, for the most part, is whether it's going to be in 2009, or not; right?

DR. PORAY:  That's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  You haven't, in fact, for example, told this Board how much of those capital expenditures will close to rate base this year?

DR. PORAY:  We have assumed that most of the capital expenditures that we planned for this year would in fact go into rate base this year.

MR. SHEPHERD:  That's more than half?

DR. PORAY:  When you say "more than half", I don't understand.

MR. SHEPHERD:  $461 million, is it going to be 235 million --

DR. PORAY:  The expectation is that most of that 461 will go into rate base or it will go into service.

MR. SHEPHERD:  You have a number; right?  You have a plan for when you expect everything to go into service; right?

DR. PORAY:  At the completion of the work, the facilities go into service, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Can you tell us how much -- what's the dollar amount that's going to go into service in 2009?

[Witness panel confers]

DR. PORAY:  Our assumption is that the $461 million that we've identified that came out of the model -- sorry, out of our business planning is what would go into service in 2009.  These are the in-service additions for 2009.

MR. SHEPHERD:  It's not your capital spending?

DR. PORAY:  The capital expenditures of $461 equate roughly to $460 million of in-service additions.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  I'm sorry I have to go down this path again.  Take out, please, Exhibit B2-1-2, appendix D, page 6, please.

DR. PORAY:  Sorry, what is the reference?

MR. SHEPHERD:  B2-1-2, appendix D.  That's page 6 of 8.

DR. PORAY:  B2-1-2?

MR. SHEPHERD:  B2-1-2, appendix D.  That's your threshold calculation.  Do you have it?

DR. PORAY:  Yes.

MR. DUMKA:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So in 2008, you started the year with work in process of $94 million, and you end the year with $64.6 million of work in process; is that right?

MR. DUMKA:  That's what's there in the approved test year.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  And within reason, that's probably relatively accurate; correct?

MR. DUMKA:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Same thing's going to happen in 2009; right?  You're going to have some -- going in and you're going to have some work in process at the end of the year; right?


MR. DUMKA:  Yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  It's not going to be the same work, is it?  It's going to be different work.


MR. DUMKA:  I would imagine some of it would, yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So Mr. Poray, I come back to you again.  Your $461 million that you expect to spend this year, that is not the $461 million that's going to close to rate base this year, is it?


DR. PORAY:  Excuse me for a minute.


[Witness panel confers]

DR. PORAY:  Mr. Shepherd, our understanding is that the capital expenditures will reflect the capital additions in 2009.  So $461 million of capital additions will be put in-service in 2009.  That's in accordance with the model.  That’s how we see the model working.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, I didn't ask you how the model works.  What I asked you is, what's going to happen in real life?  In real life you're going to spend $461 million, you plan, this year, on capital expenditures.


Will every dollar of that be in rate base at the end of this year?  Your answer is "no"; right?


DR. PORAY:  I think Mr. Van Dusen is going to answer that.


MR. VAN DUSEN:  You are now talking about what will happen in 2009 actually, versus what we're witnessing here.


MR. SHEPHERD:  That's right.


MR. VAN DUSEN:  So in 2009 what actually will go into service is, there's a certain amount of work-in-progress as you said, at the end of 2008.  That, most of that will go into service, then some large proportion of the expenditures in 2009 will go into service.


Our basic historic trends we have with distribution is a very large percentage of expenditures, cash flow in each year does go into service in each year, but the actual calculation will be based on what is in construction in progress at the end of 2008 and a portion of that going into service and a portion of the capital expenditures.  That will actually happen, but that is not the assumption in the model that we are here witnessing.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I am looking at your past history, it looks like at any given time you have somewhere between 50 and 150 million of work in process at the end of each year.


MR. VAN DUSEN:  That's correct.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Do you know what your work in process was at the end of 2008?


MR. VAN DUSEN:  I don't have it with me.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Is it fair to say it's probably in that range?


MR. VAN DUSEN:  I don't have that information with me.


MR. DUMKA:  Mr. Shepherd, perhaps I can help you just -- excuse me.  I'm sorry.


Mr. Shepherd, perhaps I can help you.  If we take a look at Hydro One Distribution's capital expenditures over a four or five-year time frame, from 2004 to 2008, essentially our capital spend and our in-service additions in any given year are fairly close.  The average over that period from 2004 to 2008 is roughly 97 percent.


So it's pretty close, give or take, in any given year, in terms of our in-service additions and our capital expenditures.


MR. SHEPHERD:  In this application, the effect of what you are asking for -- and I'm not saying it's your fault, the model does it, right -- the effect of what you're asking for is that you will have a number of capital expenditures this year, 50, 100, 150 million dollars that will not be in rate base at the end of the year, but you will recover in rates, if you get what you've asked for, the rate base implications of the work in process you had at the end of 2008.  Is that the effect of this application?


MR. DUMKA:  I'm not sure I quite follow.  Again, my understanding of the model that we're using and how we are supposed to apply it, generally speaking -- and it is the case, the capital expenditures that we're going to make, the $461 million are essentially going to be going into rate base and that is how this model treats the capital expenditures that we intend to make.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So I take it you would agree, then, that if you -- let's say you had at the end of last year you had $250 million of work in process.  It's a big year.  You've got a big project you haven't finished yet or whatever.


And you decided you're not going to spend anything on capital in 2009.  I take it you would agree that even though what would close to rate base this year is over the thresholds, you couldn't apply for a capital module.



MR. DUMKA:  I don't agree essentially with what you've laid out.  You are asking hypothetical questions, which have no bearing as to how Hydro One runs its distribution system.


We don't have a given year where we spend nothing on capital because it would be imprudent, our system would be falling apart.  We wouldn't be meeting ratepayers' requirements.


So the type of example that you are giving me is not a real-world example.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  In any case, aside from saying these capital expenditures will happen in 2009, you haven't given any further information with respect to the timing of the capital expenditures for which you are asking for rate relief, have you?


DR. PORAY:  No, we haven't provided any other information.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Thank you.


Still on that same bullet.  You are required to provide an indication of whether the expenditure levels could trigger a further application before the end of the IR term.


Can you point to where that is in your evidence?

DR. PORAY:  We have notified the Board that we will be submitting a cost-of-service application in 2010.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So that's not in your evidence, but separately in a letter you told the Board, we're going to go for cost-of-service?


DR. PORAY:  Subsequent to the evidence we submitted the letter.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So this evidence didn't comply with that requirement, did it?


DR. PORAY:  Our expectation was that, given the expenditure levels on the capital side that we would probably have to consider the capital adjustment module in the succeeding years of the IRM.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Did you say so in this application?


DR. PORAY:  I don't think we specifically said that.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Then the next bullet says that you are required to give an analysis of the revenue requirement associated with the capital spending.


I take it that, you've understood that to be:  Fill in the incremental capital adjustment module G4.1 which we see at B2, 1, 2, appendix F, which is page 8 of 8.


DR. PORAY:  That's correct.


MR. SHEPHERD:  That's the response to this, what's the revenue requirement?


DR. PORAY:  That's correct.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So you haven't, in fact -- and you have refused generally -- to provide any information on an equivalent cost-of-service revenue requirement for that incremental capital; isn't that correct?


DR. PORAY:  That's not the requirement as part of this submission.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Thank you.  And your specific proposal as to the amount of relief sought is:  We would like every dollar of what this revenue requirement amount is.


DR. PORAY:  We believe that the work that we've identified in the capital programs has to be done.


MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  Then the next bullet has several components.  One is justification that amounts being sought are directly related to the claimed cause.


So in this case that's included in your original 79 pages of evidence; right?


DR. PORAY:  Correct.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And they must be clearly non-discretionary.  Have you provided evidence of that?


DR. PORAY:  We've provided the evidence which says that the work that has to be done.  That's the result of our rigorous planning process.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Now, you would agree that in a cost-of-service application, you are not required to demonstrate that all expenditures are non-discretionary, are you?


DR. PORAY:  Excuse me for a minute.


[Witness panel confers]

DR. PORAY:  We've been asked that question in a cost-of-service proceeding, in terms of what's discretion and what is non-discretion, and, generally, our response has been that we've looked at the work program and we feel that it is justified that it has to be done, given the requirements and the rigorous planning process that it goes through.

MR. SHEPHERD:  You would agree, Mr. Poray, wouldn't you, that in a cost-of-service application, even if you did cost-of-service every year, year after year, sooner or later you have to spend the discretionary money?  Sooner or later it has to be done.  These things that you don't have to do this year, sooner or later you do.

And that's not true in this case; right?  In this case, if something is something you don't have to do, you can't do it; right?

DR. PORAY:  The work that we have identified in this we believe has to be done.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.

You are also required to show that the work that you are proposing is clearly outside of the base upon which current rates were derived.

Now, I assume that it is your view that anything over the threshold is, by definition, outside of the base; is that right?

DR. PORAY:  The $461 million that we've identified in capital expenditure is outside the rate base that's been approved by the Board.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, that's not what this says.  It doesn't say outside rate base.  It says, "clearly outside of the base upon which current rates were derived".

DR. PORAY:  Oh, I'm sorry.  I'm sorry.  The current rates, as I mentioned in my direct, do not recover any of the costs associated with 2009 capital expenditures.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So you're saying that under IRM, there's no provision for you to spend any money?

DR. PORAY:  Not in the base year rates.  The base year rates that are approved in Hydro One's case for 2008 only reflect the capital work that's done in 2008, not in 2009.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Dr. Poray, what about the depreciation amount?  That's in your base year rates.  Don't you have that money to spend?

DR. PORAY:  We are now getting --

MR. DUMKA:  I think you have crossed over.  Now we're having a discussion with regards to the Board's model for determining the threshold for incremental capital.

I think you are confusing the two in what is coming across.  Specifically it says whether they're within current rates, and they're not.

The current rates do not recover any of the costs for capital expenditures in 2009.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So that would be true of every distributor for every capital expenditure, now, wouldn't it?

MR. DUMKA:  To carry on with the Board's model, there's a threshold calculation which takes in the starting point, as Mr. Poray outlined in his direct this morning, the approved depreciation from the rebasing year, the $187 million.

So that is part and parcel of determining what the threshold level is.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Your evidence, as I understand it, is that your rates do not include any amount for capital spending that you have to make in 2009; right?

DR. PORAY:  That's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And that would be true of every LDC; isn't that also correct?  Any LDC that has an IRM this year, their previous rates would not include any amount for the 2009 capital spending; isn't that correct?

DR. PORAY:  Well, I can't speak for the other LDCs and what programs they have, but if they are in a similar situation to Hydro One, then I would think that that would be similar, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So then if that's the case, then why would the Board be asking for justification, if you don't have anything in rates for capital expenditures?  You don't.  How do you justify that?  It is.  Isn't that what you're saying?

DR. PORAY:  Well, I think what the Board was -- and I don't want to interpret on behalf of the Board, but our understanding is that if you come forward with a capital adjustment module, you would have to, in fact, make those - or the onus was on the utility to prove that there were drivers that necessitated those capital expenditures, and that's what this is all about.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Let me go on then --

MR. ENGELBERG:  I would like to interject here.  My understanding is that the Board's first report not only states what Dr. Poray just said, but states specifically three or four bullets as to what an LDC applicant must show.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, actually, these are the filing guidelines, so this is what the LDC applicant must show.

MR. ENGELBERG:  I am talking about the general points of prudency, necessity, and so forth.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Haven't got to that yet.  Will do.

MR. VLAHOS:  Mr. Shepherd, before you continue, I just want to make sure I follow with, I guess, Dr. Poray, the proposition that if nothing changes in 2009.

Say there was no application for 2009.  Then the rates that exist today do not support any capital expenditures?  This is what I thought I heard.

DR. PORAY:  That's correct, the capital expenditures for 2009.

MR. VLAHOS:  Let me just follow that up.  So say that it's a brand new utility.  It starts this year.  And you have ten dollars reflected in your rates, ten dollars for rate base, or capital expenditures reflected in rate base reflected in rates, okay?  So that utility does not get -- its rates do not get reset the next year.

So are you saying that there is nothing in the rates now that support any capital expenditures for the following year?

DR. PORAY:  That's correct.

MR. VLAHOS:  Because you spent the ten dollars in --

DR. PORAY:  Putting in the infrastructure and the capital investments in the in-rate year.

MR. VLAHOS:  But the return on that investment is reflected in your rates; correct?

DR. PORAY:  Yes.

MR. VLAHOS:  And, therefore -- then, also, there is some depreciation?

DR. PORAY:  There will be some depreciation, yes.

MR. VLAHOS:  So what you have available for you is depreciation plus the income, but there is no specific amount, you're saying, that is assigned, specifically assigned, to capital expenditures for the next year?

DR. PORAY:  That's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I am almost finished the filing guidelines, gentlemen.

MR. VLAHOS:  Mr. Shepherd, the Board has to rise in ten minutes, so you will be guided by that.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  I have the sad task of saying that I may have to be back tomorrow morning for a short period of time, but I hope it won't be long.  But I can probably finish this in ten minutes, if that's okay with you.

MR. VLAHOS:  Okay, but ten minutes, no more.  We have some commitments.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So still in that same bullet, it says you are supposed to provide historical plan continuity information for each year of the IR plan term since the last Board-approved test year.


Since you had cost-of-service last year, I take it you have interpreted this to be the only information you needed to provide is last year's cost-of-service information?

DR. PORAY:  You have the historical data in that -- with that information.  So you have the 2008 test year, and then all of the prior information that went along with that.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Where do we have that?

DR. PORAY:  You have that in the 2008 rate submission that Hydro One --

MR. SHEPHERD:  When we asked for it here, you refused to provide it time after time; right?  Numerous questions where we ask you for 2003 to 2007 information, you said, No, sorry, you can't have it.

DR. PORAY:  Well, certainly for the 79 pages, as you quote, of capital expenditures that we have provided in support of the capital adjustment module, we provided both the 2008 data and the 2009 data.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Thank you.  I will come back to that.

On the next page, there is three more bullets of requirements for this application.  The next one is justifications that the amounts to be incurred will be prudent.  I take it that that is included in your 79 pages?

DR. PORAY:  Yes, it is.

MR. SHEPHERD:  You have, in each case, demonstrated that it represents the most cost-effective option?

DR. PORAY:  Our planning process takes that into consideration.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So you haven't filed evidence to that effect.  We should just trust you that you have done it the right way?

DR. PORAY:  We filed -- we have used exactly the same process as we've used in previous rate submissions with the Board.

MR. SHEPHERD:  The next bullet requires that you show that evidence that the incremental revenue requested will not be recovered through other means, and the examples given are base rates, expansion of service and other load growth.

You have filed that information?


DR. PORAY:  We provided that information and I described that in today's direct evidence.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And the last is:  A description of the actions the distributor will take in the event the Board does not approve the application.


Can you point us to where that is in your application?


[Witness panel confers]

DR. PORAY:  We haven't filed anything specific.


Our intention is, as submitted, to go ahead with the program.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So if the Board says no to this, to your request for relief, your expectation is you will still spend $461 million?


DR. PORAY:  That is our expectation, yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Mr. Chairman, I am moving on to a new area.  Would you like to break now?


MR. VLAHOS:  Yes.  I think that is a good time to break. Any matters, Mr. Engelberg, before we rise for the day?


MR. ENGELBERG:  No, Mr. Chair.


MR. VLAHOS:  All right.  Then we are adjourned until tomorrow at 9 o'clock.


--- Whereupon hearing adjourns at 4:28 p.m.
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